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Annual Report
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Enabl ing ski l ls development 
i n  t h e  b a n k i n g  a n d  
m i c r o f i n a n c e  s e c t o r .

Vision 
The vision of the BANKSETA is to be recognised as a centre of excellence and innovation for 
skills development in the broader banking and microfinance sector.

Mission
To support transformation and people development and through partnerships, to enable 
stakeholders to advance the national and global position of the broader banking and 
microfinance industry.

Corporate Values
Respect  ‑  The way we treat all people; 
Innovation  ‑  A constant focus; 
Customer Focus  ‑  The customer is King; 
Professionalism  ‑  We benchmark against the best; 
Diversity  ‑  A strength that binds; 
Integrity  ‑  We act accordingly and encourage reciprocity; and
Teamwork  ‑  In the service of our customers we are one.

Honourable Minister, 

It is with great pleasure that we present to you the BANKSETA Annual Report for the period 
1 April 2010 to 31 March 2011.

Dr Blade Nzimande
Minister of Higher 
Education & Training
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to  bu i ld ing 
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r e s o u r c e s 
while fuelling 
transformation.
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Chief Executive Officer’s Report 
The Higher Education and Training Minister Blade Nzimande’s announcement 
of the new SETA landscape and confirmation that the BANKSETA will continue 
without change for the next five years is a resounding vote of confidence in 
what we render to our sector from Government.

This success can largely be attributed to the support the BANKSETA received 
from the banking and microfinance industry and its involvement in the various 
BANKSETA focus groups and subcommittees. Their backing is confirmation 
that the SETA’s work is necessary, relevant and important.

BANKSETA’s 80% levy income increased by 8% from R328 million for the 
2009/10 financial year to R357 million for the 2010/11 financial year. The 
SETA’s project expenditure reduced from R155 million in the previous financial 
year to R113 million. Changes in levy income estimates relating to prior years 
are included in the current year balances. The SETAs have not received levy 
information from the Department of Higher Education and Training since 

December 2010. This impacted the grant payments scheduled in March. The delay also has an impact on the 
grant payments for 2011/2012.

While we may take the view that the BANKSETA is at the crest of its achievements, we cannot afford to be 
complacent about it and need to continuously evaluate ourselves to ensure all aspects of the organisation keep 
running smoothly, from corporate governance, to day‑to‑day management and administration. Continuous 
improvement as a mantra is the perpetual dissatisfaction with the status quo.

In January 2011 the third release of the National Skills Development Strategy (NSDS III) was introduced by the 
Minister. A major change is the reduction of the mandatory grant levy from 50‑40%. The difference of 10% can 
be claimed through a pivotal grant aimed at stimulating opportunities for unemployed learners to gain work 
experience. Importantly, the funding regulation governing the grant has not been issued yet and, as a result, the 
BANKSETA has yet to finalise its approach to this change. Our sector recognises the opportunity thus created in 
funding scarce and critical skills in chartered accountancy, actuaries and financial markets analysts as an example.

From a mandate perspective, SETAs are expected to focus on three main components: 

•	 Achieving the NSDS III goals through sector specific skills interventions; 

•	 Addressing employer demands; and 

•	 Delivering results.

BANKSETA submitted the final version of its 2011‑2016 Sector Skills Plan (SSP) for the banking sector in 
February 2011. This document informs the BANKSETA’s strategy and programmes in line with the NSDS III.

I am pleased to report that the year under review is the BANKSETA’s eleventh year of an unbroken track record of 
clean audits and nearly 100% grant payouts as at 31 March 2011. Under‑spending on administration allowed the 
BANKSETA to allocate an additional R154 million to discretionary projects, which have contributed significantly to 
the reduction of the sectors’ scarce and critical skills pool and address employment equity.

The implementation of the Consumer Protection Act and National Credit Act having seen a concomitant denuding 
of related skills in the industry, with people moving into more secured jobs in larger entities.

The tail‑end of the recession continues to affect the banking sector, which has led to job losses and created 
uncertainty for people considering careers in the sector. Even so, the BANKSETA remains committed to skills 
development within the banking and microfinance sector with a firm conviction that this is a resilient sector, which 
has weathered many a storm.

In the 2010/2011 financial year the BANKSETA virtually doubled its support of small and micro enterprises. One 
aspect of this was through the mobile training solution (a bus equipped with satellite technology, touch screen 
computers and office equipment) launched in the 2009/10 financial year. During the year under review, the project 

OvERvIEW | 

Chairperson’s Report
The 2010/11 financial year was largely characterised by uncertainty for South 
Africa’s Sector Education and Training Authorities (SETAs) following the 
announcement of the new SETA landscape by the Department of Higher 
Education and Training. Instituted in January 2011, the new legislation saw 
several SETAs being required to merge or restructure. Some aspects of these 
changes remain unclear and there is a general concern that the focus may 
shift away from adequately serving the sectors’ skills development needs.

It came as no surprise, however, that the BANKSETA had its mandate extended 
without change. It was business as usual with continued focus on being a 
valuable skills development partner for the banking and microfinance sector.

Reflecting on the 2010/11 financial year for the sector, it is clear that the worst 
of the recessionary crisis is behind us. The sector however continued to deal 
with the fallout of the recession and this has resulted in job losses at some 
of the country’s major banks. This is ultimately reflected in a slight increase 

in levies for the BANKSETA, which increased from R328 million to R357 million in the year ended 31 March 2011.

While this reduction presents a challenge for the BANKSETA, the legislative body has always managed its finances 
well and its administrative expenses have never exceeded budget. In addition, the organisation spent stakeholder 
money prudently in the year under review, this element of the BANKSETA’s spending decreased by 27% from 
R155 million in the previous year to R112 million. This decrease is reflective of the timing differences between the 
duration of the project (varying between 3‑36 months) and the SETA financial year end as well as the significant 
project expenditure in 2009/10 financial year due to the drive towards achieving the five year targets in respect 
of NSDS II.

Notably, the BANKSETA was once again a top performing SETA, a position it has held for the past 11 years. This 
is thanks to consummate professionalism and competence of the Chief Executive Officer, Max Makhubalo; and 
the management team and employees at the BANKSETA, who manage finances impeccably and ensure a smooth 
running operation. Further evidence of the team’s proficiency is the BANKSETA’s achievement of an unqualified 
audit report for the 2010/11 financial year for the eleventh consecutive year. 

In addition, the BANKSETA has created new products and services and 2011 will see major inroads being made 
into Recognition of Prior Learning. A highlight of will be a study tour to the Netherlands to investigate global 
benchmarks relating to recognition of prior learning.

As in previous years, corporate governance matters were handled efficiently. The Council effectively provided 
strategic guidance, policy and overview and Council Committees scrutinised the BANKSETA’s internal controls, 
financial reporting and remuneration practices. The Council was satisfied that the BANKSETA strategy was 
successfully implemented against the Service Level Agreement with the Department.

Finally, as outgoing Chairperson for the BANKSETA, it is my privilege to announce the ministerial appointment 
of Martin Mahosi as the new Chairperson; including Collette Caine and Malesela Maleka, as newly appointed 
Council Members.

Eugene Ebersohn
Chairperson
17 May 2011

OvERvIEW

Overview 
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research and 
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was expanded to incorporate career and consumer training for schools and Further Education and Training 
Colleges (FETs).

The BANKSETA continued to promote executive skills development through two fully funded International 
Executive Development Programmes (IEDPs) in retail banking, one in partnership with CASS Business School in 
the United Kingdom and the other with Erasmus Business School in the Netherlands. Each included a learning 
experience in Africa where candidates were exposed to developments in banking in Uganda and Kenya respectively.

The BANKSETA also partnered with the University of New York to start an IEDP in investment banking at the 
Stern School of Business in New York. In addition, the BANKSETA reports with pride the success of its third 
year Financial Markets Honours Programme, which continues to produce financial analysts and stockbrokers. 
R8 million has been invested in this project to date.

The Financial Markets Programme at the University of Fort Hare is providing critical economics skills to the sector 
and, notably, at the University of the North West, one of our centres of excellence, the pass rate in Honours in 
Accounting at the Mafikeng Campus exceeded 70%.

In addition, the BANKSETA has conducted research into Recognition of Prior Learning (RPL), an area that has 
not enjoyed much traction in South Africa to date. As part of benchmark research, sector representatives and 
regulators will visit the Centre for Learning Sciences and Technologies in the Netherlands to benchmark the 
European approach to RPL and its application in the banking and microfinance sector.

As part of the Minister’s changes to the SETA landscape, the BANKSETA Board was reconstituted and we extend 
a warm welcome to our new Chairperson and all other new Council Members. 

I am delighted to say the BANKSETA enjoys the support of the sector and its delivery partners and it is fortunate 
to have attracted capable and motivated managers and staff, despite an uncertain environment. I am indebted to 
them for toiling consistently to make the SETA the success story it is.

Finally, I would like to thank our Council Members and all the people who served on the subcommittees (Audit & 
Risk, Finance, Remuneration) for their unwavering support and commitment. I would also like to thank the Minister 
for his support and his understanding of the nuances and challenges our sector experiences.

Max K Makhubalo
Chief Executive Officer
20 May 2011

| OvERvIEW
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t h e  s e c t o r.

An Effective & Efficient 
Administration System

Guiding Principles
By embracing its guiding principles: 

•	 Leveraging the Skills Levy Funds for the strategic benefit of the sector and the National Skills Development 
Strategy (NSDS); 

•	 Being cost effective, placing value on the swift delivery of services at the lowest cost and co‑sourcing noncore 
delivery mechanisms; and 

•	 Employing leading edge technology and best business practices, the BANKSETA has created an efficient and 
effective administrative system.

Governance
A strong BANKSETA Council plays a critical role in ensuring that the BANKSETA is an efficient and effective 
organisation, capable of delivering consistently against its NSDS II targets.

The BANKSETA is committed to provide stakeholders with the assurance that the organisation is managed soundly 
and ethically in all its business and reporting, by adhering to the highest principles and following sound practices, 
all undertaken in line with the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct, as set out in the King III Report, the 
Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999) and the Skills Development Levies Act (Act No. 9 of 1999).

Council members are appointed in terms of the BANKSETA Constitution. Three independent committees serve 
to inform council on matters relating to remuneration, finance and auditing. Details of meetings and committee 
members appear in the Corporate Services Report.

Administration
The BANKSETA complies with the Public Finance Management Act (1999), the Skills Development Levies Act (SDLA) 
(Act No. 9 of 1999) as amended and the King III Report on Corporate Governance. 

The BANKSETA’s ability to process and effect mandatory grants payments timeously and efficiently would not 
have been possible without an efficient and effective administrative system.

According to SDLA 10% of funds may be used for administrative costs. The BANKSETA has operated within its 
10% administration costs.

The SETA Management System (SMS) continues to function well, with most stakeholders submitting their reports 
online. The quality of data submitted in Workplace Skills Plans (WSPs) and Annual Training Reports (ATRs) has 
improved, and provides reliable, data against which individual companies can benchmark themselves. 

| AN EFFECTIvE & EFFICIENT ADMINISTRATION SYSTEM
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Governance

Employee Attendance at Meetings During the Period Under Review

Members      Constituency No. of Meetings Attended

Board Members
Eugene Ebersohn (Chairperson) SASBO 6/6
Sipho Ngidi / Shirley Zinn SBSA 2/4
vanessa Hattingh SASBO 4/6
Joe Kokela SASBO 1/6
Isaac Ramputa SASBO 5/6
Ben venter SASBO 5/6
Eugene Zeeman IBSA 5/6
Hennie Ferreira MFSA 6/6
Jenny Jeftha SA Reserve Bank 4/6
Gcobani Fipaza FirstRand 1/6
Shirley Zinn / Dean Retief Nedbank 5/5
Abe Thebyane Nedbank 1/1
Fergus Marupen ABSA 3/4
Marlé van der Walt Investec 3/4
Nitasha Naicker African Bank 1/2
Ronald Ramabulana ABSA 2/2

Remuneration Committee
Gcobani Fipaza (Chairperson) SASBO 2/2
Eugene Zeeman SASBO 2/2
Ben venter SASBO 2/2
Fergus Marupen ABSA 0/2

Finance Committee
vanessa Hattingh (Chairperson) SASBO 5/5
Samantha Anthony SASBO 5/5
Paul Mogotsi Nedbank 2/5

Audit and Risk Comittee
Nitasha Naicker (Chairperson) African Bank 2/5
Marlé van der Walt (3 meetings paid as Chairperson) SASBO 5/5
Shaheena Suliman ABSA 3/5
Elvera Helberg Nedbank 2/5

DELIvERY ON THE NATIONAL SKILLS DEvELOPMENT STRATEGY | 

Delivery on the National 
Skills Development Strategy
The Financial Year Ending 2011 has proved to be another success for the BANKSETA, 
as all NSDS II targets were exceeded yet again in their eleventh year of operations.

Service Level Agreement (SLA)
SETAs are required on an annual basis to enter into Service Level Agreements (SLAs) with the Department of 
Higher Education and Training (DHET) stating their contribution towards the overall achievement of NSDS targets 
in any particular year. Annual targets contribute towards the achievement of the five year NSDS II targets.

The BANKSETA is pleased to report that during the period under review (1 April 2010 to 31 March 2011), the 
BANKSETA over achieved against all targets.

SETAs are rated in the following areas: an efficient and effective administrative system; processes in accordance 
with legislation; delivery on the National Skills Development Strategy; alignment to the future in skills development; 
and the viability and relevance of the SETA.

The BANKSETA has achieved, and in some instances, exceeded its SLA targets by implementing a range of 
innovative, targeted, interventions, including Learnerships, Projects, Lifelong Learning Interventions, Career 
Guidance Workshops, Career Days, New venture Creation Projects, Bursaries, Training voucher Schemes and 
Centres of Excellence. These interventions have developed the skills of people outside the sector, those entering 
the sector, as well as the skills of current employees.

| DELIvERY ON THE NATIONAL SKILLS DEvELOPMENT STRATEGY
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B u i l d i n g 
s k i l l s  b y 
empowering 
o u r  yo u th.

Board Members

| DELIvERY ON THE NATIONAL SKILLS DEvELOPMENT STRATEGY

Eugene Ebersohn
Chairperson
Labour

Ronald Ramabulana
Deputy Chairperson
Employer

Ben Venter 
Labour

Eugene Zeeman
Labour

Hennie Ferreira
Employer

Isaac Ramputa
Labour

Jenny Jeftha
Employer

Gcobani Fipaza
Employer

Sipho Ngidi
Employer

Vanessa Hattingh
Labour

Fergus Marupen
Employer

Dean Retief
Employer

Shirley Zinn
Employer

Nitasha Naicker
Employer

Jo Kokela
Labour
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Through the initiative employees gained insight into a variety of health and wellness issues and were given the 
opportunity to know their health status. This led to enhanced productivity and reduced absenteeism.

Introduction of a flexible and tele‑work arrangement, allowing staff members to work from remote areas.

The organisational culture is defined by the values upheld by all staff members. These values are linked to 
behavioural indicators, which eliminate varied interpretations on how employees should enact these values. This 
process has helped the BANKSETA team to create a shared understanding of the respective values. 

The reiteration of a study conducted biannually, where stakeholders are asked to assess their interaction with 
the BANKSETA staff members against the defined values. The BANKSETA achieved a score of 4/5 rating. The 
feedback enables the staff members to continuously improve in all they do; ensuring professional and pleasant 
interaction with the BANKSETA team.

Remuneration of Staff (Salary Bands)
(in Rands)

Occupational Levels Paterson Grading System Total Cost-to-Company 

CEO E Band 1,161,368

Management D Band 430,000 ‑ 700,000
Specialist C Band 290,000 ‑ 400,000
Administrator B Band 140,000 ‑ 180,000

Supply Chain Management
Supporting Black Economic Empowerment (BEE) suppliers is another way of promoting diversity and transformation 
within the sector. During the 2010/11 financial year, the BANKSETA spent R23,246,466 on purchasing goods and 
services from black owned businesses. R3,188,168 of this value was specifically for purchases from black female 
owned businesses. This calculation is in accordance with the preferential points system used in the Preferential 
Procurement Policy Framework Act (Act No. 5 of 2000) on which the BANKSETA’s procurement policy is based. 
In other words, the BANKSETA’s empowerment calculation is limited to acquisitions over R30,000. The scope for 
awarding preferential points will be broadened once the National Treasury and the Department of Trade and Industry 
have aligned the preferential procurement procedures with the Broad Based Black Economic Empowerment Act.

Highlights
•	 Concluded and managed SCM contracts with an estimated value of R120,411,654;

•	 Concluded 199 procurement transactions for the year (Including 11 bids above R500,000);

•	 Set up a central SCM contracts filing system at BANKSETA;

•	 Developed a comprehensive spend analysis;

•	 SCM Customer Satisfaction Survey achieved an overall performance score with an average of 4.33 (86.67%);

•	 SLA Performance for SCM for the year was 88.34%;

•	 Streamlined SCM templates and reporting, for greater compliance; and

•	 Achieved savings in planned annual contract expenditure of R1,490,452 (Operational and Project Contracts).

Information Technology (IT)
Information Technology supports the BANKSETA to perform day‑to‑day operations and provides IT applications for 
supporting access to and delivery of information. In order to maintain and improve this role the following was done:

•	 A Mikrotik was installed for bandwidth management. This also enables active line monitoring.

•	 End of life notebooks were replaced;

•	 Automated expiry notifications to assessor, moderators and training providers were introduced;

•	 The online registration system for assessors and moderators was extended to allow for the online application 
of extension of scope and re‑registration; and

•	 The website was redesigned to align to the new BANKSETA corporate identity.

DEPARTMENTAL REPORTING | 

Departmental Reporting

Corporate Services

| DEPARTMENTAL REPORTING

Corporate Services comprises of a number of operational departments that support 
the smooth running of the business namely; Human Resources, Compliance, Supply 
Chain Management (SCM), Marketing and Communications, Information Technology 
and Finance.

Levies & Grants
BANKSETA’s 80% levy income increased by 8% from R328 million for the 2009/10 financial year to R357 million for 
the 2010/11 financial year. A 97% pay out rate was achieved. The amount of R167 million was paid out in the form 
of mandatory grants to the employers. The achievement confirms the sector’s commitment to Skills Development.

Human Resources
As at 31 of March 2011, the BANKSETA operated with a staff compliment of 32 full‑time employees, with two of 
the positions being vacant. During the year under review, the BANKSETA has recorded five resignations with staff 
members taking up greater responsibilities in and outside the sector.

Highlights
Employee Wellness Programme looks after the wellness of BANKSETA staff members and that of their immediate 
households’ members. 

Wellness Day formed a part of this initiative and was celebrated on 1 December 2010, incorporating health screening 
interventions with assessments such as :

•	 voluntary counselling and testing for HIv Aids;

•	 Basic eye screening;

•	 Body mass index assessment; 

•	 Blood cholesterol; and

•	 Blood sugar and pressure. 

Dimakatso Seete
Manager: Corporate 
Services

Caroline King
Specialist: Corporate 
Services

Silindile Bulunga
Senior Administrator: 
Human Resources

Isabel de Necker
Specialist: Marketing 
and Communications

Precious Sikhosana
Specialist: Marketing 
and Communications

Mary Baloyi
Specialist: Corporate 
Services
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Education & Training Quality Assurance

ETQA’s role as an enabling body is to support the development of skills in the sector 
whilst simultaneously resisting pressure to become a policing agent or an inefficient 
and demanding bureaucracy. 

Functions of the BANKSETA ETQA:
•	 Implement the Skills Sector Plan by: 

 – Education of training providers and employees; and

 – Monitoring education and training in the sector.

•	 Be accredited as a body contemplated in Section No. 5(1)(a)(bb) of the South African Qualifications Authority 
Act and to act as such.

•	 Liaise with the National Skills Authority as well as other SETAs on Inter Alia: 

 – National Skills Development Strategy;

 – National Skills Development Policy; and

 – Its own Sector Skills Plan.

•	 Report to the Director‑General on the implementation of its Sector Skills Plan and its income and expenditure.

•	 Facilitate the involvement of the relevant government departments in the activities of the Authority to: 

 – Address the competency requirements for social delivery;

 – Address the learning needs of the most vulnerable segments of the sector; and

 – Promote training in SMEs to enable them to qualify for public contracts.

•	 Perform any other duties imposed by the Act or any other function not specifically mentioned, in order to fulfil 
the objectives of the BANKSETA and the Act. 

•	 The Authority must at all times give effect to the purposes of the Act, being: 

 – To encourage employers to: 

 ‑ Use the workplace as an active learning environment;

 ‑ Provide employees with opportunities to acquire new skills; and

 ‑ Provide opportunities for new entrants to the labour market to gain work experience.

 – To encourage workers to participate in learnerships and other training programmes.

Karen Hobbs
Manager: ETQA

Jolette le Roux
Specialist: ETQA

Joel Thusi
Administrator: ETQA

Mabel Lenyai
Specialist: ETQA

DEPARTMENTAL REPORTING | 

Marketing & Communications
Marketing and Communications continues to play an important role in ensuring that all stakeholders, including 
the media is kept informed about BANKSETA’s skills upliftment initiatives and achievements against NSDS 
targets. A high media profile, supported by a strong track record of delivery against NSDS targets and strong 
corporate governance has ensured that the BANKSETA has always been perceived as one of the top SETAs in 
the country, therefore as a SETA that is sustainable. The notion of sustainability and viability is further enforced by 
the BANKSETA’s impeccable record of nine unqualified audits in succession.

Highlights
•	 During the year 2010/11, the BANKSETA has strived to constantly raise the bar and keep abreast of its market 

needs. This was achieved through positioning the BANKSETA brand and increased awareness to its key 
stakeholders within the broader banking and microfinance sector as well as the community at large.

•	 As part of the stringent brand development process, the BANKSETA has developed key messaging to support 
its strategic focus areas. BANKSETA’s new key messaging is as follows:

 ‑ BANKSETA supports world class research 
and benchmarking to the banking and 
microfinance sector. 

 ‑ Research and benchmarking focus facilitates the sector’s 
growth and global competitiveness through knowledge 
provision. 

 ‑ BANKSETA enables skills development and 
encourages transformation within the financial 
services sector. 

 ‑ Commitment to the NSDS’s objectives will enable a 
banking sector built on national resources while fuelling 
transformation. Accreditation and quality assurance are 
vital to the support of this mandate. 

 ‑ BANKSETA assists in empowering Small, Medium 
and Micro businesses through innovative training 
solutions. 

 ‑ An empowered SME demonstrates possibility and 
opportunities and is key to emerging market economies. 

 ‑ BANKSETA builds skills for tomorrow by empowering 
the country’s youth. 

•	 The promotion and redesign of the Good Practice Awards programme including the positioning of the awards. 
This initiative is aimed at recognising and rewarding employers for their commitment in the implementation of 
skills development. A total of three employers were recognised and awarded for their participation.

•	 The BANKSETA team is preparing to explore and increase its reach through the available social media platforms.

•	 BANKSETA continues to assess the stakeholder level of satisfaction through a Customer Satisfaction Survey.

| DEPARTMENTAL REPORTING
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Highlights
New Venture Creation
•	 We piloted a New venture Creation, which trained young black entrepreneurs on how to run their own 

Recognition of Prior Learning Advisor and Assessor (RPLAA) business consultancy; and

•	 We partnered with the Co‑operative Bank Development Agency in order to support the compliance registration 
of Co‑operative Banks in the sector. This worked well as CBDA identified those co‑operatives in need of 
support and BANKSETA assisted with the funding.

Quality Council for Trades & Occupations
•	 Three separate areas of QCTO curricula and qualifications were completed or identified within the 

2010/2011 year:

 – Following intensive involvement by the inter‑bank community, the QCTO Bank Worker curriculum and 
qualification was completed and submitted to QCTO for registration;

 – QCTO Credit/Loan Officer curriculum and qualification (for the microfinance industry) was completed and 
submitted to QCTO for registration; and

 – QCTO Operational Risk Manager curriculum and qualification is being completed and once finished will be 
submitted to QCTO for registration.

FAIS E‑Learning Portal
BANKSETA continues to fund this project with the purpose of making a revision platform available to the industry, 
where learners have 24‑hour access to learning content and can study and prepare for the ‘RE 1’ in their own time 
and at their own pace. The learning is delivered via the Internet by means of a link on the employer’s intranet or 
on the BANKSETA’s website.

The learning is designed to address each of the qualifying criteria on which the First Level Regulatory Examinations 
(both ‘KI’ and ‘Rep’) is based, and should therefore provide the learner with sufficient and relevant content, as well 
as assessment practice in preparation for the examination.

The learning is further supported by a Learner Guidance and Support Function in the form of a Call Centre, which 
can be contacted should any assistance be required, be it technical or content related.

DEPARTMENTAL REPORTING | 

•	 To improve the prospects of persons previously disadvantaged by discrimination and to redress those 
advantages through training and education; to ensure the quality of education and training in and for 
the workplace. 

BANKSETA supports the creation of an environment in which training providers and employer organisations in the 
banking and microfinance sector can participate in the transformation of the sector and of the country.

ETQA Operational Plan for 2010/11:
•	 Promote the introduction of qualifications into the sector, in line with the Quality Council for Trades and 

Occupations legislation and regulations.

•	 Support the sector in its achievement of compliance with relevant Banking regulations and legislation, such 
as the FAIS Act.

•	 Retain and maintain the SAQA accreditation of the BANKSETA ETQA’s function by:

 – Promoting the benefits of BANKSETA accreditation for training providers; 

 – Involving the primary and secondary training providers in the achievement of best practice quality assurance 
in the banking and microfinance sector; and

 – Consulting with the sector training providers to implement best practice policies and procedures.

•	 Educate stakeholder training providers involved in the banking and microfinance sector.

•	 Monitor and evaluate providers offering banking and microfinance sector qualifications, and operating within 
the sector.

•	 Consultation with the sector training providers concerning qualifications, unit standards and skills programme.

•	 Maintain a database of learner records and achievements, leading to the enablement of national learner certification.

•	 Maintain a database of accredited training providers, who are monitored and evaluated at required intervals.

•	 Maintain a database of registered constituent assessors, who are qualified and experienced in assessing 
qualifications, skills programmes and unit standards in the banking and microfinance sector.

•	 Maintain a database of registered constituent moderators, who are qualified and experienced in 
moderating assessments against qualifications, skills programmes and unit standards in the banking and 
microfinance sector.

ETQA Programmes & Services for 2010/2011:

Programme & Service Objective Achievements

New venture Creation  ‑ Training of young black entrepreneurs in 
Recognition of Prior Learning Advisor and 
Assessor training and new venture creation.

 ‑ Support and training of FET facilitators to 
run NvC programmes.

 ‑ 25 New venture creation learners trained 
and mentored (120% of target).

 ‑ 2 FETs Supported to deliver new venture 
creation (200% of target).

FAIS Support & 
Implementation

 ‑ E‑learning platform to test bank staff’s 
competency against FAIS compliance 
criteria for RE1 and RE2.

 ‑ 19,000 Banking employees registered on 
the e‑learning portal.

Co‑operative Banks  ‑ Support and training of staff and board 
members of co‑operative banks.

 ‑ 12 Co‑op Banks supported and trained 
(240% of target).

Quality Assurance of 
Sector Providers

 ‑ Accreditation and monitoring of providers, 
registration of assessors and moderators, 
internal quality audits of providers.

 ‑ 68 Primary & secondary training providers 
accredited or registered with BANKSETA.

Maintain a Database 
of Learner Records & 
Achievements

 ‑ Employees who entered unit standard 
based training.

 ‑ Employees who completed unit standard 
based training.

 ‑ 776 Learners entered (207% of target).
 ‑ 242 Learners completed (128% of target).

| DEPARTMENTAL REPORTING



22 23

Back to contents

Interbank Training Materials Update
A project to support the update of sector training materials was completed. The National Credit Act, Compliance 
and Corporate Governance materials were updated and are available on the BANKSETA Knowledge Management 
Portal, which is accessible on the BANKSETA website.

Adult Basic Education & Training (ABET)
This project has nine employers participating with 43 learners completing ABET Levels No. 1‑4. 

Capacity Building Workshops (CBW)
Five sets of workshops were hosted during this year. Subject matter experts shared learning materials and their 
expertise in workshops hosted in Johannesburg, Durban and Cape Town. The themes were: Talent Management 
including:

•	 Implementing learnerships; 

•	 Reasonable accommodation for people with disabilities; 

•	 Coaching, mentoring and performance management; 

•	 Skills Development Facilitator (SDF) training; and 

•	 Measuring training impact. 

Overall positive feedback was received from the 453 learners who attended all the sessions.

Financial Literacy Project
This project was delivered through two partnerships, with the Banking Association of South Africa to co‑fund their 
‘Teach‑a‑Child‑to‑Save‑Project’ and the other partnership with the Financial Services Board Foundation to deliver 
financial literacy training to public Further Education and Training (FET) learners across the nine provinces where 
3,832 learners were trained. 

Research
Business Enterprises at University of Pretoria (BE at UP) was appointed as BANKSETA’s research partner. Thus 
far the following research assignments have been completed: 

•	 A benchmark study on the implementation of the Recognition of Prior Learning (RPL) in the sector; 

•	 The 2011‑2016 BANKSETA Sector Skills Plan; and 

•	 A study on the landscape and environment of microfinance institutions and co‑operatives. 

Overview of Skills Development Projects

GP WC KZN EC NC MP NW L FS

Project – – – – – – – – –
CBW  194  45  58 – – – – – – 
MTS  0  21  24  61  65  19  62 37 96
SME voucher  91 26 6 25 10 0  0 0 0 
Fin Lit  1213  408  885  540  140  286  249  974  200

Career Awareness – – – – – – – 648 –
LLL (CPA Workshops) 93 14 34 14 0 0 6 11 12

TOTAL 1591 500 1007 640 215 305 317 1670 308
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Skills Development

During the 2010/11 financial year, the Skills Development department focused 
on consolidating projects and updating its Quality Management Systems (QMS). 
BANKSETA is pleased to report the following outcomes:

Career Awareness Project 
The Life Orientation Teacher training component of this project was launched in Limpopo on 15 September 2010. 
The Department of Education in Limpopo partnered with the BANKSETA to deliver this project and during this 
phase 1,681 teachers were trained. Phase 2 of the project will be completed in the next financial year. 

Mobile Training Solution (MTS)
This project was launched in February 2010 and is very popular. The bus is equipped with 18 workstations 
and a facilitator’s station to enable training. The training is targeted at reaching rural microfinance organisations 
delivering financial skills and legislative compliance training. All nine provinces have been reached and 361 learners 
have been trained. The bus was also used to reach school and FET learners, who were trained on the Junior 
Achievement South Africa (JASA) ‘Banks‑in‑Action’ programme. 

Training Voucher Project
This Small and Micro Enterprise (SME) support project was reopened in Quarter 2. Tutuka was reappointed to 
manage the system after an open bid process. The project supported 40 SMEs and 23 training service providers 
participated in the process. A drive to market this project to additional Training Service Providers for the next 
financial year is underway. 

SME Support 2010
Partnerships with the National Small Business Chamber (NSBC) and PlaNet Finance were forged to deliver on this 
project. Workshops on the new Consumer Protection Act were delivered across the country over the financial year. 

Lynette Mentor
Manager: Skills 
Development

Siphelo Ngcwangu
Head of Research: 
Skills Development

Sharon Mokgwatlheng
Specialist: Skills 
Development

Elelwani Netshituni
Specialist: Monitoring 
and Evaluation

Rozah Magamba
Administrator: Skills 
Development

Sharissa Naicker
Specialist: Skills 
Development

Kgomotso Khoale
Administrator: Skills 
Development
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Letsema VII Programme Intake

Province City 2010 2011

Gauteng Johannesburg 475 397
Pretoria 174 126
vereeniging 30 17

Kwazulu/Natal Durban 79 70
Western Cape Cape Town 68 56
Southern Cape George   
Eastern Cape Port Elizabeth 35 47

East London – 24
Northern Cape Kimberley  – 22
  Upington  – – 
Free State Bloemfontein 39 30
North West Klerksdorp 20 27

Potchefstroom  – 4
Rustenburg – 24

Limpopo Polokwane (Pietersburg) 35 23
Mpumalanga Witbank  – 7

Nelspruit 45 26
TOTAL 1000 900

The KUYASA Learnership targets post graduate learners and the 2010 KUYASA intake had two streams with 50% 
of the learners recruited being placed on the Generic Management Learnership being offered by Milpark Business 
School and the balance of learners placed on the Credit and Risk Learnership offered by Culhane Consulting. 
The KUYASA Graduation for the 2010 intake ran smoothly in Gauteng on 3 March, with 146 learners graduating 
(66 from the Generic Management Learnership; and 80 from the Credit and Risk Learnership). 

Whilst a learnership does not guarantee permanent employment, the track record of absorption of learners both 
on the LETSEMA and KUYASA projects into the sector has been approximately 75%‑85%, a statistic the sector 
can be proud of. The contributions of each of the participating host employers do not go unnoticed – without 
which the project would not be considered the success it is today. Exposure to the banking environment has been 
an eye‑opener for many of the learners, as banks play a key role in shaping the social, economic and political 
landscape within our country. Banks are committed to transformation within South Africa and many initiatives 
have been set in motion to ensure various targets are achieved in relation to transformation – and this gives every 
employee in any bank the opportunity to make a difference. 

Employer‑Driven Interventions
Employers within the broader banking and microfinance sector have been lauded on numerous occasions for the 
continuous training development to ensure that our sector remains world class and sophisticated. This is in spite 
of the recession and no doubt, the tourists who visited our shores for the World Cup 2010, will have experienced 
first‑hand the exceptional banking support available to them. 

Transfer of skills is intrinsic to maintaining this high level of service to our clients and increasing the competitive 
edge and demand‑driven niche learnerships cater for specific core skills required in the work environment. The 
approved applications are represented as follows for the 2010/2011 period under review:

•	 20 Applications in respect of niche learnerships for the employed (Referred to as 18.1 Learnerships) were 
received – 334 learners were sponsored through various interventions including retail insurance, debt 
recovery, contact centre operations, foreign exchange and internal audit technician, to mention a few. The 
total approved grants towards up‑skilling of staff within the broader banking and microfinance arena totalled 
R6,780,000 in million,

•	 11 Applications in respect of niche learnerships for the young unemployed (Referred to as 18.2 Learnerships), 
were received – 270 learners were sponsored through various interventions including legal debt recovery, 
service excellence, core banking skills and banking services advice. Approved grants towards developing 
unemployed learners within the banking and microfinance fraternity totalled R6,710,000 in million.
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Learning Programmes

The Learning Programmes Department is responsible for promoting, supporting 
and implementing new and existing skills development initiatives for BANKSETA 
stakeholders, including existing employees, new entrants and potential new entrants, 
as well as employers in the broader banking and microfinance sector.

 It oversees the implementation of sector appropriate learning programmes, including learnerships, internships, 
work readiness programmes and bridging programmes that target both employed and unemployed learners. 
Refer to Annexure A: Registered and De‑Registered Learnerships. 

Determining the feasibility of an intervention is done on a need‑based approach, in consultation with the sector before 
new offerings are registered with the Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET). The team is responsible 
for advising registered BANKSETA employers on how to effectively implement Learnerships in accordance with the 
BANKSETA Learnership Guiding Principles and relevant legislation governing learning programmes. 

Background to BANKSETA’s Flagship Projects
Learnerships have been identified as one of the best vehicles to build the skills of South Africa’s youth and 
BANKSETA continues to attract unemployed youth through its LETSEMA and KUYASA Learnerships. The 
LETSEMA learnership targets postmatric learners and in the 2010/2011 financial year, graduations for the 7th intake 
ran successfully in eight provinces, with 827 learners graduating. The table on the next page reflects the regional 
placement for LETSEMA learners who completed the learnership in the 2010/2011 financial year, as well as the 
placement of learners that were recruited early in 2011 for the current programme.

Paulette Bourne
Manager: Learning 
Programmes

Deerani Naidoo
Specialist: Learning 
Programmes
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Administrator: 
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Specialist: Learning 
Programmes

| DEPARTMENTAL REPORTING



26 27

Back to contents

Development Programmes

As one of the BANKSETA departments, Development Programmes is responsible for the 
management of the discretionary grants, the BANKSETA projects office and leadership and 
management related projects. The department has in 2010/11 financial year been able to 
successfully ensure compliance to regulations, BANKSETA’s Discretionary Grants Policy including 
the implementation of the PRINCE II Project Management Methodology across BANKSETA. 

BANKSETA Discretionary Grants Alignment with the  
National Skills Development Strategy
BANKSETA has for the period 2010/11 been able to successfully align its projects with the National Skills 
Development Strategy. All initiated projects are required to indicate how they will contribute to the strategy before 
approval by the BANKSETA Council. It is as a result of this that BANKSETA has been able to achieve the Service 
Level agreement targets that it agreed with the Department of Higher Education and Training. The table below 
indicates percentage of beneficiaries per NSDS II Indicators:

BANKSETA Discretionary Grants Alignment with the  
Identified Sector Priorities 
For the period under review BANKSETA identified the following five priorities in order to address scarce skills and 
respond to challenges facing the banking and microfinance sector:

•	 Transformation (Finance Sector Charter, Employment Equity and BBBEE);

•	 Small and Micro Enterprise Support;

•	 Youth Development;

•	 Adult Education and Training; and

•	 Research and Benchmarking.

BANKSETA has remained focused on these and the banking and microfinance sector has realised achievements 
in these areas resulting from the discretionary grants disbursed through BANKSETA.

Trevor Rammitlwa
Manager: Development 
Programmes

Auma Nnane
Specialist: Development 
Programmes

Nobuhle Dlamini
Administrator: Development 
Programmes

Madeleine Pelzer
Specialist: Development 
Programmes
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Work‑Based Experience Programmes
The BANKSETA launched a unique work readiness programme in October 2010 to fast‑track the development 
of credit management skills for the sector. The offering uses virtual Banking technology that simulates an actual 
banking credit environment and 70 unemployed commercial graduates (30 in Gauteng, 20 in Durban and 20 in 
Cape Town) were trained to deal expertly with real‑life credit applications for an array of different clients. Another 
novel element of the programme was that these graduates were supervised by highly experienced credit managers, 
who were called out of retirement. This combination of tried‑and‑tested human expertise, soft‑skills training, 
advanced training technology and technical components will enable the graduates to complete their training and 
be certified as work ready in just six months, instead of the usual year. Credit management is a scarce and critical 
skills area across the banking and microfinance sector and on completing the six month programme, learners 
should be able to perform credit management functions across different areas of banking, from retail and corporate 
banking divisions, to the call centre environment. 

Bridging Programme: Learner Graduates Ready to Spread their Business 
Wings
In January this year, 25 out of a group of 27 learners graduated from the BANKSETA’s bridging programme. This 
programme assists disabled learners in acquiring the skills they need to enter BANKSETA learnerships, such as 
the Letsema and Kuyasa programmes. It also provides them with the knowledge and attitude to enter a NQF 
Level 4 learnership within the banking sector and sharpened critical employment skills such as literacy, numeracy 
and other personal and technical skills. Thulasizwe Timothy Leema from Gauteng is one of the top performing 
graduates who recently qualified to enter the KUYASA learnership programme. He is a determined young man 
and ascribes his new found ability to spread his wings in the business world to the training from the BANKSETA’s 
bridging programme, as well as its facilitators, South African Disability Development Trust (SADDT) and About 
Learning. 
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Leadership and Management Development 
Programmes

Certificate in Management Development
The aim of this programme is to increase the pool of skills at entry level management occupations in the banking 
and microfinance sector. To this end, for the year under review, 160 employed candidates were selected and 
in partnership with Milpark Business School 147 of these were able to achieve the qualification in March 2011. 
The project was delivered in Kwa‑Zulu Natal, Gauteng, Eastern Cape and Western Cape with various banking 
institutions participating.

Masters & Executive Development Bursaries
Due to continued demand and in line with the NSDS BANKSETA has continued to offer bursaries to the employed, 
particularly targeting the Masters and Executive development courses at various South African universities. For 
2010/11 financial year BANKSETA allocated bursary funding to small, medium and large companies. The aim of 
this project is also to grow levels of current and future skills needed in management and leadership.

International Executive Development Programme (UK/Uganda)
Being one of the flagship programmes that BANKSETA has implemented, the IEDP UK/Uganda successfully 
contributed to preparing 20 senior managers from various local banking institutions for executive roles, with the aim 
of contributing to the transformation of the profile of executives in the sector. In 2011, for the first time, candidates 
were exposed to banking perspectives in other parts of Africa and specific to this project Uganda. Working with 
Wits Business School the programme created partnerships with Makerere University Business School and the 
local banks and markets which the candidates visited and researched. In the UK partnerships were entered into 
with CASS Business School at the City University of London and the local banks there. By the end of the project 
candidates produced four research papers.

International Executive Development Programme (Europe/Kenya)
The IEDP Europe/Kenya was successfully implemented, also achieving the preparation of 20 senior managers 
from various local banks for executive management roles. Working with the Gordon Institute of Business 
Science  (University of Pretoria), partnerships were established with Strathmore Business School in Kenya and 
for the first time in this programme, candidates also visited and researched the Kenyan banking sector including 
other intermediaries such as Safaricom (M‑Pesa). In the Netherlands a partnership was created with Rotterdam 
School of Management Erusmus University and various local banks were visited and researched. On their return, 
the candidates produced four research papers published on the BANKSETA research portal. All 20 candidates 
successfully completed the programme.

International Executive Development Planning (USA/Ghana) 
Having noted investment banking as one of the top scarce skills in the sector including lack of executive management 
skills in this area, BANKSETA initiated to replace one of the two IEDPs with an IEDP with one that focuses on 
investment banking. In the 2010/11 financial year, work was undertaken to set this programme up in partnership 
with Gordon Institute of Business Science  (University  of Pretoria) and Stern School of Business at New York 
University. For an African perspective in investment banking, Ghana was identified as the most relevant and a 
partnership was also set up with GIMPA Business School and the local banks.

Doctoral & Post Doctoral Bursaries
The BANKSETA continued to fund bursaries for doctoral and post doctoral candidates in the 2010/11 financial year. 
For this period 14 candidates were funded with various universities. The BANKSETA also set‑up a panel comprising 
banking experts and academics to select and advise the organisation on proposals relevant to the sector.

National Payment Systems Training Material
For the first time the BANKSETA has partnered with the Payments Systems Association (PASA) to develop training 
material aimed at growing the pool of skills in this specialised area. The BANKSETA and PASA are testing the 
material and aligning it with QCTO requirements before rolling the programme out.
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Amount Committed to Each NSDS Indicator

Other*

NSDS 5.2

NSDS 4.3

NSDS 4.2

NSDS 4.1

NSDS 2.8

NSDS 2.7

NSDS 2.5

NSDS 2.2

NSDS 1.2

NSDS 1

Amount Allocated NSDS Objective

4.1
49%

2.8
26%

2.2
11%

2.5
1%

2.7
2%

Other*
3%

1
3%

1.2
2%

4.2
2%

2.7
1%

5.2
1%

Notes:
1 The largest number of beneficiaries are the unemployed followed by the employed respectively.
2 Large and medium company targets were achieved not directly through discretionary grant funding, but mainly through participation 

in workplace skills planning and reporting.

BANKSETA Performance Against Allocated Discretionary Grants for (the) Period 2010/11

(in R’000) 2010/11 2009/10

Cumulative Surplus Funds Available (A) 754,946 654,946

Cumulative Surplus Funds Allocated (B) 808,596 653,903

(B) as % of (A) 107.11% 99.84%

Cumulative Surplus Funds Spent (C) 677,563 562,466

(C) as % of (B) 83.79% 86.02%

Notes:
1 The above information is cumulative since the inception of BANKSETA in April 2000 and depicts how far BANKSETA has allocated and 

spent the discretionary grants by the end of 2011 financial year.
2 On a cumulative basis BANKSETA continues to spend more than 80% of its allocated funds however in 2010/11 financial year there was 

a 2.41% decline due to projects that spread across financial year 2010/11 and 2011/12 respectively.
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Annual Financial 
Statements
Statement of Responsibility
The Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2011, have been approved by the Accounting 
Authority on 25 May 2011 in terms of Section No. 51(1)(f) of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), Act No. 
1 of 1999 as amended, and were signed on their behalf by:

 
Martin Mahosi

 

Max Makhubalo Martin Mahosi
Chief Executive Officer Chairman
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

8 In accordance with the PAA and in terms of General notice 1111 of 2010, issued in Government Gazette 
33872 of 15 December 2010, I include below my findings on the annual performance report as set out on 
page 41 and material non‑compliance with laws and regulations applicable to BANKSETA.

Predetermined Objectives 
9 There are no material findings on the annual performance report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations 
10 There were no material findings concerning material non‑compliance with laws and regulations applicable 

to BANKSETA.

Internal Control 

11 In accordance with the PAA and in terms of General Notice 1111 of 2010, issued in Government Gazette 
33872 of 15 December 2010, I considered internal control relevant to my audit, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. There are no significant deficiencies in internal 
control that resulted in a qualification of the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements and findings on 
predetermined objectives and material non‑compliance with laws and regulations.

Other Reports

Investigations

12 An investigation was conducted by an independent firm on the request of the entity. The investigation was 
initiated by the entity based on suspected irregularities of funds paid by the entity to a service provider. The 
investigation resulted in summons being issued against the service provider.

Auditor-General
Pretoria
31 July 2011

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |

Report of the Auditor‑General to Parliament 
on the Banking Sector Education and Training 
Authority (BANKSETA)

Report on the Financial Statements

Introduction 
1 I have audited the accompanying financial statements of BANKSETA, which comprise statement of financial 

position as at 31 March 2011, and the statement of financial performance, statement of changes in net 
assets, statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts and cash flow statement for the year 
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the 
accounting authority’s report, as set out on pages 32 to 50

Accounting Authority’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

2 The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with South African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards 
of GRAP), and for such internal control as management determines necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor‑General’s Responsibility 

3 As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 1996), 
section 4 of the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and section 14(6) (a) of 
the Skills Development Act, 1998 (Act No. 97 of 1998), my responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on my audit.

4 I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and General Notice 1111 of 
2010 issued in Government Gazette 33872 of 15 December 2010.  Those standards require that I comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

5 An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

6 I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit 
opinion.

Opinion

7 In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
BANKSETA as at 31 March 2011, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with SA Standards of GRAP.
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Evaluation of Annual Financial Statements
The Audit Committee has reviewed:

•	 The Audited Financial Statements to be included in the Annual Report;

•	 The Auditor‑General Management letter and Management’s response thereto;

•	 Changes in Accounting Policies and Practices; and

•	 Significant adjustments resulting from the Audit.

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the Auditor‑General’s conclusions on the Annual Financial Statements 
and is of the opinion that the audited Financial Statements be accepted and read together with the Report of the 
Auditor‑General.

Marlé van der Walt
Audit and Risk Committee Chairperson
31 July 2011
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Audit Committee Report
Report of the Audit Committee as required by Treasury Regulations No. 27.1.7 and 27.1.10 (b) and (c), as amended 
by Act No. 29 of 1999.

The BANKSETA hereby presents the Report for the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2011.

Introduction

The BANKSETA and its Council are committed to the highest standards of sound corporate governance principles 
and practices in South Africa. This is avouched by its notably ethical behaviour and ongoing fine tuning of the 
prevailing corporate governance principles and practices. The Audit and Risk Committee’s composition and 
activities are fully compliant with the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) and it endeavoured 
to exceed the requirements of the Act.

Audit Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee consists of the members listed hereunder and meets four times per annum as per 
its approved terms of reference. During the current financial year five meetings were held.

Number of Meetings Attended by Committee Members

Members Constituency Term No. of Meetings

Marlé van der Walt (Chairperson) ABSA Appointed 13 May 2009 5
Nitasha Naicker African Bank Resigned July 2010 2
Elvera Helberg Nedbank Appointed 19 Jan 2011 2
Shaheena Suliman ABSA Appointed 19 May 2010 3

Furthermore, at least one representative from both the Auditor‑General’s office and the Internal Auditors are 
present at all Audit and Risk Committee meetings, regardless of whether or not the agenda items directly concern 
the audit of the SETA’s Financial Statements.

Audit Committee Responsibility

The Audit and Risk Committee reports that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit 
Committee charter, inclusive of responsibilities in respect of Risk Management, it has regulated its affairs in 
compliance with this charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein.

The Effectiveness of Internal Control

The system of controls is designed to provide cost effective assurance that assets are safeguarded and that 
liabilities and working capital are efficiently managed. In line with the PFMA and the King III Report on Corporate 
Governance Requirements, Internal Audit provides the Audit Committee and Management with assurance that 
the internal controls are appropriate and effective. This is achieved by means of the risk management process, as 
well as the identification of corrective actions and suggested enhancements to the controls and processes. From 
the various reports of the Internal Auditors, the Audit Report on the Annual Financial Statements, the matters of 
emphasis and management letter of the Auditor‑General, it was noted that no significant or material noncompliance 
with prescribed policies has been reported. Accordingly, we can report that the systems of internal control for the 
period under review were effective and efficient. 
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Payments & Remuneration in the BANKSETA
Note:  
The payments indicated below are paid to the nominating organisations and not to the individual representatives. All payments are in respect of 
Board meeting or Committee meeting attendance fees.

Members of the Accounting Authority

Name Constituency In Rands

Eugene Ebersohn SASBO 6 000
Shirley Zinn/Sipho Ngidi SBSA 3 200
Hennie Ferreira MFSA  4 800 
Gcobani Fipaza FirstRand 2 400
Fergus Marupen/Ronald Ramabulana ABSA 4 000 
Jenny Jeftha/R Naidoo SARB 4 000
Abe Thebyane/Dean Retief Nedbank 4 800 
Isaac Ramputa SASBO 4 000
vanessa Hattingh SASBO 7 200
Jo Kokela SASBO 800
Ben venter SASBO 5 600
Eugene Zeeman IBSA 5 600
Nitasha Naicker African Bank 2 400 
Marlé van der Walt Investec 4 800

Chief Executive Officer Remuneration

(in Rands)

Amount  
(Pre-Tax)

Annual & Other Income
Pension 75 904.55
Medical 24 903.50
Base Remuneration(1) 1 066 991.40
Total Guaranteed(2) Cost‑to‑Company Package 1 167 799.45
Non‑Guaranteed (at Risk) Remuneration(3) 459 710.10
TOTAL GuARANTEED & NON-GuARANTEED (AT RISK) REMuNERATION 1 627 509.55

Notes:
1 Included as part of package (Car & subsistence allowances)
2 Benchmarked annually.
3 The BANKSETA incentive scheme is benchmarked and negotiated annually. The incentive is dependent on personal performance, 

SETA core function (department) performance, the results of an external evaluation of SETA performance and the retention strategy of 
BANKSETA.
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Accounting Authority’s Report 

Report by the Accounting Officer to the Executive Authority and Parliament 
of the Republic of South Africa
As the BANKSETA Accounting Authority, it is Council’s responsibility to prepare Annual Financial Statements 
that fairly represent BANKSETA’s Financial Position as at 31 March 2011, including the Financial Performance 
and Summary Cash Flow Activities for the year ending 31 March 2011. We are of the opinion that appropriate 
Accounting Policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, have been applied on 
a consistent basis. The Financial Statements comply with Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP), 
including any interpretations guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board and the Office 
of the Accountant General within National Treasury.

General Review of the State of Affairs
The Banking Sector Education and Training Authority (BANKSETA) is a Schedule No. 3A public entity established 
by the Minister of Labour on 20 March 2000, and subsequently re‑established to 31 March 2016. The objective 
of the BANKSETA is to develop skills in and for the broader banking and microfinance industries in South Africa. 

The following sectors fall within the scope of the BANKSETA:

•	 Central Banking;

•	 Discount Houses, Commercial & Other Banking;

•	 Building Societies;

•	 Financial Mediation;

•	 Lease Financing;

•	 Securities Dealings; and

•	 Activities Ancillary to Financial Mediation.

The mission of the BANKSETA is:

“To support transformation and people development and through partnerships to enable stakeholders to 
advance the national and global position of the broader banking and microfinance industry.”

The BANKSETA is therefore responsible for: 

•	 The identification of priority skills in the sector;

•	 The distribution of mandatory grants to qualifying registered companies;

•	 The distribution of discretionary grants that will benefit the sector at large as well as individuals within the sector;

•	 The implementation of quality assurance processes that will enhance and ensure quality provision of training; and

•	 Supporting the implementation of applicable national strategic objectives, as identified in the National Skills 
Development Strategy.

The BANKSETA’s 80% levy income increased by 7,7% from R328 million for the 2009/10 financial year to 
R353 million for the 2010/11 financial year. Changes in levy income estimates relating to prior years are included 
in the current year balances. 

The admin surplus for 2010/11 was R8.4 million (2009/10: R3.5 million) and the actual administration levy income 
for the current financial year was R44.6 million (2009/10: R40 million). 

Total project and grant expenditure for the current financial year amounted to R327.8 million (2009/10:  
R355.4 million). The mandatory grant pay out percentage for the financial year was at 97% (2009/10: 96%).

All project related costs are directly allocated to projects and are not allocated to operational expenditure. 
BANKSETA has allocated approximately 93% (2009/10: 100%) of its available surplus funds as at 31 March 2011. 
The remainder of the available surpluses will be allocated during the 2011/12 financial year. Refer to the Specimen 
Annual Financial Statements for more detail.
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Statement of Financial Performance
The Annual Financial Statements are prepared in a format prescribed by the Department of Higher Education and 
Training (DHET) to achieve consistency in presentation, as far as possible, with other SETAs. 

For the Year Ended 31 March 2011

Note 2010/11 2009/10
(in R’000) (in R’000)

Revenue
Skills Development Levy – Income from Non‑Exchange Transactions 2 353 480 328 143
Skills Development Levy – Penalties & Interest from Non‑Exchange Transactions 4 817 1 016
Donations for Special Projects 14 29 062 12 044
Investment Income 3 6 598 11 051
Other Income 4 22 8
Total Revenue 393 979 352 262

Expenses
Employer Grant & Project Expenses 5 (327 842) (355 495)
Administration Expenses 6 (36 175) (36 437)
Special Project Expenditure 14 (29 062) (12 044)
Total Expenses (393 079) (403 976)

NET SuRPLuS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 1 900 (51 714)

Statement of Financial Position
For the Year Ended 31 March 2011

Note 2010/11 2009/10

(in R’000) (in R’000)

Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, Plant & Equipment 7 805 812
Intangible Assets 8 12 47

Current Assets
Accounts Receivable from Non‑Exchange Transactions 9 1 139 887
Other Accounts Receivable 10 878 328
Cash & Cash Equivalents 11 151 776 125 792
Consumables 129 87

Total Assets 154 739 127 953

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Trade & Other Payables from Exchange Transactions 12 14 285 12 250
Trade & Other Payables from Non‑Exchange Transactions 13 73 746 26 413
Donor Funding Received in Advance 14 409 23 902
Current Portion of Finance Lease Obligations 15 11 –

Total Liabilities 88 451 62 565

NET ASSETS & LIABILITIES 66 288 65 388

Funds & Reserves
Administration Reserve 817 859
Employer Grant Reserve 21 202
Discretionary Reserve 65 456 64 327

TOTAL FuNDS & RESERVES 66 288 65 388
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Events After the Balance Sheet Date
There were no events subsequent to the balance sheet date and up to the date of approval of these financial 
statements that require any elaboration.

Corporate Governance 
In terms of the Skills Development Act, total administration costs may not exceed 10% of total levies received. It 
gives me great pleasure to report that total administration expenditure in the BANKSETA is again running below 
the allowed 10%. Our aim has always been to run the BANKSETA on a lean and efficient basis and I attribute the 
SETA’s success in this regard to the quality of people in its employ, the quality of its Human Resource Practices 
and sound business model.

The BANKSETA has an independent Audit and Risk Committee, which is satisfied that the necessary checks 
and balances are in place. The Audit and Risk Committee functions are in line with the Audit and Risk Committee 
Charter and comply with principles of good corporate governance and with the requirements of the Public Finance 
Management Act. The functions of the Audit committee include a review and an update of the risk analysis, by 
management and independently from internal audit. Also refer to the Audit and Risk Committee’s report for detail. 

A materiality framework is in place and no instance occurred during the year that required an implementation of 
the policy developed in the materiality framework.

Investigation
BANKSETA has instituted a special investigation of discretionary grant payments made during 2009/10 to a 
specific service provider. The investigation was finalised and a summons was lodged to the North Gauteng High 
Court. On conclusion of this court case it will be necessary to make a determination of a potential fruitless and 
wasteful expenditure. Accordingly an empirical percentage estimate of BANKSETA’s chances of success would 
be premature and is not possible.

Re‑Licensing of BANKSETA 
The Department of Higher Education and Training has renewed the licence of BANKSETA for five years valid until 
31 March 2016.

Martin Mahosi
 

Martin Mahosi
Chairman
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Cash Flow Statement
For the Year Ended 31 March 2011

Notes 2010/11 2009/10
(in R’000) (in R’000)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating Activities
Cash Receipts from Stakeholders 357 913 329 214
Levies, Interest & Penalties Received 357 291 329 471
Other Cash Receipts from Stakeholders 622 (257)
Cash Paid to Stakeholders, Suppliers & Employees (343 421) (398 296)
Grants & Project Payments (280 640) (350 294)
Special Projects (29 125) (12 044)

Compensation of Employees (14 358) (16 066)
Payments to Suppliers & Other (19 298) (19 891)
Cash Generated from/(Utilised in) Operations 16 14 492 (69 082)
Interest Received 3 6 160 10 865
Grants, Transfers & Funds Received 14 5 632 33 668
Finance Cost (7) –

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Operating Activities 26 277 (24 549)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Property, Plant & Equipment 7 (293) (194)

Net Cash Outflow from Investing Activities (293) (194)

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 25 984 (24 743)
Cash & Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 11 125 792 150 535
Cash & Cash Equivalents at End of Year 11 151 776 125 792

Statement of Comparison of Budget & Actual 
Amounts  
For the Year Ended 31 March 2011

Notes
Approved 

Budget
Final  

Budget Actual

Favourable/
(unfavourable) 

Variance
(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

REVENUE
Skills Development Levy Transfer from  
Non‑Exchange Transactions

27.1 336 000 336 000 353 480 17 480

Skills Development Levy Penalties &  
Interest from Non‑Exchange Transactions

27.2 – – 4 817 4 817

National Skills Fund Income – – – –
Investment Income 27.3 11 500 11 500 6 598 (4 902)
Other Income – – 22 22

Total Revenue 347 500 347 500 364 917 17 417

ExPENSES
Employer Grant & Project Expenses 27.4 (305 500) (305 500) (327 842) (22 342)
Administration Expenses 27.5 (41 650) (41 650) (36 175) 5 475

Total Expenses (347 150) (347 150) (364 017) (16 867)

NET SuRPLuS FOR THE YEAR 350 350 900 550

BANKSETA does not budget for a surplus. The R350 000 shown as a surplus in the original budget was budgeted 
as capital expenditure of which R293 000 was spent. For details regarding the difference between budget and 
actual refer to Note No. 27.
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Revenue is adjusted for InterSETA transfers due to employers changing SETA’s. Such adjustments are 
separately disclosed as InterSETA transfers. The amount of the InterSETA adjustment is calculated according 
to the most recent Standard Operating Procedure issued by the Department of Higher Education.

3.1.2  Interest & Penalties
Interest and penalties received on the skills development levy are recognised on the accrual basis.

3.1.3  Funds Allocated by the National Skills Fund for Special Projects
Funds transferred by the National Skills Fund (NSF) are accounted for in the financial statements of the SETA 
as a liability until the related eligible special project expenses are incurred, when the liability is extinguished 
and revenue recognised. 

Property, plant and equipment acquired for NSF Special Projects are capitalised in the financial statements 
of the SETA, as the SETA controls such assets for the duration of the project. Such assets may however 
only be disposed of in terms of agreement and specific written instructions by the NSF.

3.1.4  Government Grants and Other Donor Income
Conditional government grants and other conditional donor funding received is recorded as deferred income 
when they become receivable and is then recognised as and when the conditions are met. Unconditional 
grants received are recognised when the amounts have been received.

3.2 Revenue from Exchange Transactions
Revenue from exchange transactions is recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits or 
service potential will flow to the SETA and these benefits can be measured reliably. Revenue is measured 
at fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

3.2.1  Investment Income
Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal outstanding and 
the effective interest rate over the period to maturity.

4.  Grants and Project Expenditure
A registered employer may recover a maximum of 50% of its total levy payment as a mandatory employer 
grant (excluding interest and penalties) by complying with the grant criteria in accordance with the Skills 
Development Act, 1998 SETA Grant Regulations regarding monies received and related matters (The SETA 
Grant Regulations).

4.1 Mandatory Grants
The grant expenditure is recognised when the employer has submitted an application for a grant in the 
prescribed form within the legislated cut‑off period and the application has been approved. Grants are 
equivalent to 50% of the total levies contributed by employers to the SETA during the corresponding 
financial period. 

4.2 Discretionary Project Expenditure 
A SETA may out of surplus mandatory, admin or discretionary levies and in accordance with criteria as 
defined in the SETA Grant Regulations allocate funds to employers and other associations or organisations. 
The criteria for allocating funds are approved by the SETA Board. Where necessary it can be required 
of interested employers, associations or organisations to complete and submit a funding application for 
consideration and approval by the SETA. A SETA allocates discretionary grants to employers who have 
submitted an application for a discretionary grant in the prescribed form within the prescribed cut‑off 
period. Discretionary grant expenditure is recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred, 
in which conditions are met.

Project Expenditure Comprise:

•	 Costs that relate directly to the specific contract; 
•	 Costs that are attributable to contract activity in general and can be allocated to the project; and
•	 Such other costs as are specifically chargeable to the SETA under the terms of the contract.
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Accounting Policies to the Annual Financial 
Statements
For the Year Ended 31 March 2011

1. Basis of Preparation
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below 
and are, in all material respects, consistent with those of the previous year, except as otherwise indicated.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the effective Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued 
by the Accounting Standards Board, and the Office of the Accountant General within National Treasury.

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except where adjusted 
for present/fair values as required by the respective accounting standards.

2.  Currency
These financial statements are presented in South African Rands since that is the currency in which the 
majority of the entity transactions are denominated.

3.  Revenue Recognition

3.1 Revenue from Non‑Exchange Transactions

Non‑ exchange revenue result in resources being received by the BANKSETA, usually in accordance with a 
binding arrangement. When the BANKSETA receives resources as a result of a non‑exchange transaction, 
it recognises an asset and revenue in the period that the arrangement becomes binding and when it is 
probable that BANKSETA will receive economic benefits or service potential and it can make a reliable 
measure of the resource transferred.

Where the resources transferred to the BANKSETA are subject to the fulfilment of specific conditions, it 
recognises as asset and a corresponding liability. As and when the conditions are fulfilled, the liability is 
reduced and revenue is recognised. The asset and the corresponding revenue are measured on the basis 
of the fair value of the asset on initial recognition.

Non‑exchange revenue transactions include the receipt of levy income from the Department of Higher 
Education and Training, income from the National Skills Fund, and grants from the national government.

3.1.1  Levy Income
The accounting policy for the recognition and measurement of skills development levy income has been 
amended on the basis of a revised interpretation of the Skills Development Act, Act No. 97 of 1998 as 
amended and the Skills Development Levies Act, (Act No. 9 of 1999) as amended. 

Skills Development Levy (SDL) transfers are recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits 
will flow to the SETA and these benefits can be measured reliably. This occurs when the Department of 
Higher Education and Training either makes an allocation or payment, whichever comes first, to the SETA, 
as required by Section No. 8 of the Skills Development Levies Act, 1999 (Act No. 9 of 1999) as amended.

In terms of Section No. 3(1) and 3(4) of the Skills Development Levies Act, 1999 (Act No. 9 of 1999) as 
amended, registered member companies of the SETA pay a skills development levy of 1% of the total payroll 
cost to the South African Revenue Services (SARS), who collects the levies on behalf of the Department of 
Higher Education and Training. Companies with an annual payroll cost less than R500,000 are exempted 
in accordance with Section No. 4(b) of the Levies Act as amended, effective 1 August 2005.

80% Of skills development levies are paid over to the SETA (Net of the 20% contribution to the National 
Skills Fund). The SETA was not in a position to verify that SARS has collected all potential skills levy income.
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9.  Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the SETA has a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is 
probable that this will result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be estimated reliably. Long‑term 
provisions are discounted to net present value.

The cost of employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the employee renders the related 
service. Employee entitlements are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the 
estimated liability as a result of services rendered by employees up to the Statement of Financial Position 
date. Provisions included in the Statement of Financial Position are provisions for leave (based on the 
current salary rates) and termination benefits. Termination benefits are recognised and expensed only when 
the payment is made. No provision has been made for retirement benefits as the SETA does not provide 
for retirement benefits for its employees.

10.  Grants and Projects

10.1 Mandatory and Discretionary Grant Payments
A liability is recognised for grant payments once the specific criteria set out in the SETA Grant Regulation 
have been complied with by member companies and it is probable that the SETA will approve the payment. 
The liability is measured at the net present value of the expected future cash outflow as determined in 
accordance with the Act. This measurement involves an estimate, based on the amount of levies received.

10.2 Discretionary Projects
No provision is made for projects approved at year‑end, unless the service in terms of the contract has 
been delivered. Where a project has been approved, but has not been accrued for, it is disclosed as 
commitments in the notes to the financial statements.

Commitments are disclosed where the SETA has, in the normal course of its operations, entered into 
contractual agreement with entities related to project expenses which are due for payment.

11. Financial Instruments

11.1 Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the SETA’s Statement of Financial Position when 
the SETA becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

11.2  Financial Assets
All financial assets of the SETA were categorised as loans and receivables. The classification depends on 
the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

11.2.1 Loans & Receivables
Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market are classified as ‘Loans and Receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. Interest income is recognised 
by applying the effective interest rate.

11.2.2 Effective Interest Method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, or where appropriate, a 
shorter period.
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Such costs are allocated using methods that are systematic and rational and are applied consistently to 
all costs having similar characteristics. Project costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which 
they are incurred.

4.3 Retrospective Adjustments by SARS
The SETA refunds amounts to employers in the form of grants, based on information from SARS. Where 
SARS retrospectively amends the information on levies collected, it may result in grants that have been paid 
to certain employers that are in excess of the amount the SETA is permitted to have granted to employers. 
A receivable relating to the overpayment to the employer in earlier periods is raised as the amount of such 
grant over payment, net of bad debts and provision for irrecoverable amounts.

5.  Irregular, Fruitless & Wasteful Expenditure 
Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in contravention of, or not in accordance with, a 
requirement of any applicable legislation, including:

•	 The PFMA; and
•	 The Skills Development Act (the Act), 1998 (Act No. 97 of 1998) as amended.

Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure means expenditure that was made in vain and would have been avoided 
had reasonable care been exercised. All irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised against 
the respective class of expense in the period in which it is incurred.

6.  Property, Plant & Equipment 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and adjusted 
for any impairments. Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful 
lives, using the straight‑line method.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with 
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. Where the carrying amount of 
an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable 
amount (i.e. Impairment losses are recognised.)

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the 
sale proceeds and the carrying amount and are taken into account in determining operating profit.

7.  Intangible Assets 
Intangible assets are stated at cost less any subsequent accumulated amortisation and adjusted for any 
impairments. Amortisation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, 
using the straight‑line method.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and amortisation method are reviewed at each year end, with 
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount (i.e. Impairment losses are recognised.)

The gain or loss on disposal of intangible asset is determined as the difference between the sale proceeds 
and the carrying amount and are taken into account in determining a surplus or deficit for the year.

8.  Leasing
Finance leases consistent with the definition set out in the Treasury Regulations refer to a contract that 
transfers the risks, rewards, rights and obligations incidental to ownership to the lessee and are recorded as 
a purchase of equipment by means of long‑term borrowing. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

Payments made under operating leases (leases other than finance leases) are charged to the Statement 
of Financial Performance on a straight‑line basis over the period of the lease. When an operating lease is 
terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of 
penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.
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Surplus funds in the administration reserve and unallocated funds in the employer grant reserve are 
moved to the discretionary fund reserve. Provision is made in mandatory grant reserve for newly registered 
companies, participating after the legislative cut‑off date.

13.  Comparative Figures
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the 
current year.

14.  Taxation
No provision has been made for taxation, as the SETA is exempt from income tax in terms of Section No. 10 
of the Income Tax Act, 1962 (Act No. 58 of 1962).

15.  Consumable Inventory
Consumable inventory on hand at the reporting date is measured at cost. An individual consumable 
purchase of which the cost does not exceed R1 000 is recognised, an acquisition, in surplus or deficit.
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11.2.3  Impairment of Financial Assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at each year end. Financial assets are impaired 
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted. 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets 
with the exception of trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. 
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in the surplus or deficit.

11.3 Financial Liabilities
All financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities. The classification depends on the nature and 
purpose of the financial liabilities and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

11.3.1 Other Financial Liabilities

Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other financial liabilities 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense 
recognised on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or where 
appropriate, a shorter period.

12. Reserves
Net assets is classified based on the restrictions placed on the distribution of monies received in accordance 
with the Regulations issued in terms of the Skills Development Act, 1998 (Act No. 97 of 1998) as amended 
as follows:

•	 Administration Reserve;
•	 Employer Grant Reserve;
•	 Discretionary Reserve; and
•	 Unappropriated Surplus.

Employer levy payments are set aside in terms of the Skills Development Act and the regulations issued in 
terms of the Act, for the purpose of:

2010/11 2009/10
(in %) (in %)

Administration Costs of the SETA 10 10
Mandatory Workplace Skills Grant 50 50
Discretionary Grants & Projects 20 20
Received by the SETA 80 80
Contribution to the National Skills Fund 20 20
TOTAL 100 100

In addition, contributions received from public service employers in the national or provincial spheres of 
government may be used to fund its administration costs.

Interest and penalties received from SARS as well as interest received on investments are utilised for 
discretionary grant projects.
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2.     Skills Development Levy Income from Non‑Exchange Transactions

Total Levy Income per the Statement of Financial Performance

Notes 2010/11 2009/10
 (in R’000) (in R’000)

Levy Income: Administration 44 587 40 022
Levies Received 44 461 39 946

Levies Received from SARS 44 435 39 851
InterSETA Transfers In  26 109
InterSETA Transfers Out – (14)

Levies Accrued 126 76

Levy Income: Employer Grants 220 923 205 127
Levies Received 220 295 205 323

Levies Received from SARS 220 166 204 849
InterSETA Transfers In 129 543
InterSETA Transfers Out – (69)

Levies Accrued 628 (196)

Levy Income: Discretionary Grants 87 970 82 994
Levies Received from SARS 87 718 83 186

Levies Received 87 667 82 996
InterSETA Transfers In 51 218
InterSETA Transfers Out – (28)

Levies Accrued 252 (192)
TOTAL 353 480 328 143

3. Investment Income
Notes 2010/11 2009/10

 (in R’000) (in R’000)

Interest Income:
Bank Deposits 6 160 10 865
Receivable 438 186

6 598 11 051

4. Other Income
Notes 2010/11 2009/10

 (in R’000) (in R’000)

Other Income Comprises:
Insurance Claim Received – 8
SDL Grant Refund 22 –

TOTAL 22 8

5. Employer Grant & Project Expenses
Notes 2010/11 2009/10

 (in R’000) (in R’000)

Mandatory Grants 213 942 200 039
Disbursed 166 623 196 101
Provisions & Accruals 47 319 3 938

Discretionary Grants 505 (1)
Disbursed 505 (7)
Provisions and Accruals – 6

Project Expenditure 5.1 113 395 155 457
Disbursed 113 512 154 200
Provisions & Accruals (117) 1 257

TOTAL 327 842 355 495
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7. Property, Plant & Equipment
Year Ended 31 March 2011

Notes Cost
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Closing 
Carrying 
Amount

 (in R’000)  (in R’000)  (in R’000)

Computer Equipment 986 (763) 223

Office Furniture & Fittings 984 (630) 354
Office Equipment 367 (139) 228
Leasehold Improvements – – –

Balance at End of Period 2 337 (1 532) 805
Made‑Up as Follows:
 ‑ Owned Assets 2 232 (1 516) 715
 ‑ Leased Assets (Finance Lease) 105 (15) 90

Year Ended 31 March 2010

Cost
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Closing 
Carrying 
Amount

 (in R’000)  (in R’000)  (in R’000)

Computer Equipment 859 (645) 214
Office Furniture & Fittings 985 (540) 445
Office Equipment 235 (82) 153
Leasehold Improvements 192 (192) –
Balance at End of Period 2 271 (1 459) 812
Made‑Up as Follows:
 ‑ Owned Assets 2 271 (1 459) 812
 ‑ Leased Assets – – –

Movement Summary 2011
Carrying 
Amount 

2010 Additions Disposals Depreciation

Carrying 
Amount

2011   
 (in R’000)  (in R’000)  (in R’000)  (in R’000)  (in R’000)

Computer Equipment 214 157 (1) (147) 223

Office Furniture & Fittings 445 – – (91) 354

Office Equipment 153 136 – (61) 228
Leasehold Improvements – – – – –
BALANCE AT END OF PERIOD 812 293 (1) (299) 805

Movement Summary 2010

Carrying 
Amount 

2009 Additions Disposals Depreciation

Carrying 
Amount

2010   
(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

Computer Equipment 357 28 (8) (163) 214

Office Furniture & Fittings 491 53 – (99) 445

Office Equipment 141 50 – (38) 153
Leasehold Improvements 100 – – (100) –
BALANCE AT END OF PERIOD 1 089 131 (8) (400) 812

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |

5.1 Project Expenditure
Notes 2010/11 2009/10

 (in R’000) (in R’000)

Direct Project Costs 113 395 155 457

6. Administration Expenses
Notes 2010/11 2009/10

 (in R’000) (in R’000)

Depreciation/Amortisation 334 438

Loss on Sale of Assets 1 7

Operating Lease Rentals (Minimum Lease Payments) 1 690 1 452
Buildings 1 587 1 332
Plant  Machinery & Equipment 103 120

Maintenance  Repairs & Running Costs – Other 52 121
Interest Paid 7 –
Advertising  Marketing & Promotions  Communication 1 338 2 801
Entertainment Expenses 220 384
Consultancy & Service Provider Fees 9 226 7 148
Legal Fees – –
Cost of Employment 6.1 14 358 16 066
Travel & Subsistence 1 124 1 399
Staff Training & Development 789 764
Remuneration to Members of the Accounting Authority 60 68
External Auditor’s Remuneration – Audit Fees 1 253 1 019
Bad Debts Written‑Off – 10
Allowance for Doubtful Debts 8 (6)
Other 5 715 4 766
Other Administration Expenses 1 319 2 131
Consulting Fees 2 201 859
Telephone Costs 677 553
Workshops 299 417
Printing & Stationery 514 127
Internal Audit Fees 705 657
Soccer World Cup Expenses – 22
TOTAL 36 175 36 437

6.1  Cost of Employment
Notes 2010/11 2009/10

 (in R’000) (in R’000)

Salaries and Wages 12 715 14 386
Basic Salaries 9  341 9 407
Performance Awards 2 927 4 983
Temporary Staff 3 96
Leave Payments 444 (100)

Social Contributions 1 643 1 680
Medical Aid Contributions 298 294
Pension Contributions – Defined Contribution Plans 1 163 1 189
Skills Development Levies 111 133
Workmen’s Compensation 30 21
UIF 41 43

14 358 16 066
Employment Cost Allocation
Administration Expenses 6 14 358 16 066
AVERAGE NO. OF EMPLOYEES 30 31

Refer to the report by the Accounting Authority for disclosure concerning the emoluments of members of 
the accounting authority, the Chief Executive Officer.
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Movement Summary 2011

Carrying 
Amount 

2010 Additions Disposals Amortisation

Carrying 
Amount

2011   
(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

Application Software 47 – – (35) 12

Movement Summary 2010
Carrying 
Amount 

2009 Additions Disposals Amortisation

Carrying 
Amount

2010   
(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

Application Software 22 63 – (38) 47

Application software complies with the definition of Intangible assets, which is an identifiable nonmonetary 
asset without physical substance. The amortisation expense has been included in the line item ‘Depreciation/
Amortisation’ in Note No. 6, administration expenditure.

8.1  Temporarily Idle Assets & Assets Not in Use

Year Ended 31 March 2011

Cost
Accumulated 
Amortisation

Closing 
Carrying 
Amount

(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

Application Software – – –

Year Ended 31 March 2010

Cost
Accumulated 
Amortisation

Closing 
Carrying 
Amount

(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

Application Software 38 (38) –

8.2  Intangible Assets Fully Depreciated But Still in Use

Gross Carrying Value
Note 2010/11 2009/10

(in R’000) (in R’000)

Application Software 94 18

The following useful lives are used in the calculation of Amortisation.

 ‑ Application Software 2 Years 50%

9. Accounts Receivable from Non‑Exchange Transactions
Note 2010/11 2009/10

(in R’000) (in R’000)

Skills Development Levy Debtors

InterSETA Debtors 24 6 404
Employer Receivables 9.1 1 132 483
TOTAL 1 139 887
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7.1  Temporarily Idle Assets & Assets Not in Use
Year Ended 31 March 2011

Cost
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Closing 
Carrying 
Amount

(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

Computer Equipment – – –
Office Equipment – – –
BALANCE AT END OF PERIOD – – –

Year Ended 31 March 2010

Cost
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Closing 
Carrying 
Amount

(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

Computer Equipment 5 (4) 1
Office Equipment 1 (1) –
BALANCE AT END OF PERIOD 6 (5) 1

7.2  PPE Fully Depreciated But Still In Use

Gross Carrying Value

2010/11 2009/10
(in R’000) (in R’000)

Computer Equipment 536 352

Office Furniture & Fittings 59 15

Office Equipment 19 17
Leasehold Improvements – 193
BALANCE AT END OF PERIOD 614 577

 The following useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation
 ‑ Computer Equipment 3 Years 33.33%
 ‑ Office Furniture & Fittings 10 Years 10%
 ‑ Office Equipment 5 Years 20%
 ‑ Leasehold Improvements Over the Lease Term

8. Intangible Assets
Year Ended 31 March 2011

Cost
Accumulated 
Amortisation

Closing 
Carrying 
Amount

(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

Application Software 158 (146) 12

Made‑Up As Follows:
 ‑ Owned Assets 158 (146) 12

Year Ended 31 March 2010

Cost
Accumulated 
Amortisation

Closing 
Carrying 
Amount

(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

Application Software 157 (111) 47
Made‑Up As Follows:
 ‑ Owned Assets 157 (111) 47
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12. Trade & Other Payables from Exchange Transactions
Note 2010/11 2009/10

(in R’000) (in R’000)

Project Creditors 10 694 10 811
Sundry Payables 3 591 1 439
Trade Payables 1 374 672
Other Accrued Expenses 1 355 349
Leave Accrual 862 418

TOTAL 14 285 12 250

The effect of discounting was considered and found to be immaterial. 

13. Trade & Other Payables from Non‑Exchange Transactions
Note 2010/11 2009/10

(in R’000) (in R’000)

Skills Development Grants Payable‑Mandatory 62 158 17 075
SARS Payable 13.1 4 983
InterSETA Payables 24 4 4
Employer Payables 6 601 3 345
TOTAL 73 746 26 413

13.1 SARS Payable
Year Ended 31 March 2011

Opening 
Balance

Change In 
Estimate Addition

Closing 
Balance

(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

Levies incorrectly received 1 228 (8) 267 1 488
Levies identified from variance report 4 761 (1 266) – 3 495
TOTAL 5 989 (1 274) 267 4 983

Year Ended 31 March 2010
Opening 
Balance

Change In 
Estimate Addition

Closing 
Balance

(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

Levies incorrectly received 916 47 265 1 228
Levies identified from variance report 4 761 – – 4 761
TOTAL 5 677 47 265 5 989

14 Donor Funding Received in Advance

14.1 ABSA Letsema Funding
(in R’000) 2010/11 2009/10

Opening Balance ABSA 1 395 2 278
Interest Received 32 108

Utilised & Recognised as Revenue – Conditions Met: 1 (991)
Letsema 5 Project Cost – (70)
Letsema 6 Project Cost 1 (992)
Transfer to Letsema 7 Project (1 428) –

CLOSING BALANCE (1) – 1 395

Opening Balance ABSA Letsema 7 22 208 –
Received During the Year – ABSA Letsema 7 Project 1 428 30 000
Transfer from Letsema 6 1 428 –
Interest Received 573 33

Utilised & Recognised as Revenue – Conditions Met: (21 966) (7 825)
Letsema 7 Training & Development (17 750) (3 500)
Letsema 7 Project Cost (4 216) (4 325)

Transfer to Letsema 8
CLOSING BALANCE(2) 2 243 22 208
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9.1 Employer Receivable
Note 2010/11 2009/10

(in R’000) (in R’000)

Employer Receivable
Overpayment to Employers 1 140 483
Allowance for Impairment (8) –
NET EFFECT OF SARS RETROSPECTIVE  ADJuSTMENTS ON 
AFFECTED EMPLOYERS

1 132 483

R1 140 000 (2010: R483 000) was recognised as a receivable relating to the overpayment to the employer 
in earlier periods, and is based on the amount of such grant over payments. An amount of R0 (2010:  
R10 000) was written‑off as doubtful debt. 

10. Other Accounts Receivable
Note 2010/11 2009/10

(in R’000) (in R’000)

Deposits 243 142
Prepaid Expenses 197 –
Interest Receivables 438 186
TOTAL 878 328

11. Cash & Cash Equivalents
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks 
and investments in fixed deposits. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in 
the cash flow statement can be reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as follows:

Note 2010/11 2009/10
(in R’000) (in R’000)

Cash at Bank & On‑Hand 45 509 50 152
Cash at Bank 45 509 50 147
Cash‑on‑Hand – 5

Short‑Term Investments/Instruments 106 267 75 640
CASH & CASH EquIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 151 776 125 792

As required in Treasury Regulation No. 31.2, National Treasury approved the banks where the bank accounts 
are held. The weighted average interest rate on short‑term bank deposits was 5.86% (2010: 7.36%).

The Skills Development Act Regulations state that a SETA may, if not otherwise specified by the Public 
Finance Management Act, invest the monies in accordance with the investment policy approved by the 
relevant SETA.

Treasury Regulation No. 31.3 requires that, unless exempted by the National Treasury, the SETA as a 
public entity that is listed in Schedule No. 3A of the Act must invest surplus funds with the Corporation for 
Public Deposits.

As the SETA was exempted by the National Treasury from the requirement of Treasury Regulation No. 31.3 
to invest surplus funds with the Corporation for Public Deposits, surplus funds were invested inline with an 
investment policy as required by Treasury Regulation No. 31.3.5.
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16. Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities to Net 
Surplus/(Deficit)

2010/11 2009/10
(in R’000) (in R’000)

Net surplus/(deficit) as per statement of financial performance 900 (51 714)
Adjusted for non‑cash items:
Depreciation/Amortisation 334 438

Loss on disposal of property, Plant & Equipment: 1 7
Bad debts written‑off – 10
Allowance for doubtful debts 8 (6)
Finance cost 7

Special project income recognised (5 632) (33 668)
Adjusted for items separately disclosed
Interest received (6 598) (11 051)

Adjusted for working capital changes:
(Increase)/Decrease in other receivables (112) 651
Decrease/(Increase) in receivables from non‑exchange transactions (260) (604)
Increase in payables 25 886 26 903
Increase in consumables (42) (48)

CASH GENERATED FROM/(uTILISED IN) OPERATIONS 14 492 (69 082)

17. Contingencies

17.1 Retention of Surplus Funds
In terms of the PFMA, all surplus funds as at year end may be forfeited to National Treasury should an 
application for retention of surplus funds be denied. We submit an application to the Department of Higher 
Education and Training for the retention of surplus funds. As in the previous year BANKSETA expects that 
National Treasury will approve the retention of surplus funds.

17.2 First Time Employer Registrations
The Skills Development legislation allows an employer, registering for the first time, six months to submit 
an application for a mandatory grant. At the reporting date it is estimated as a result, additional mandatory 
grant expenditure of (2009/10: R202 000) will be payable. The amount is contingent on the number of 
submissions received and approved. 

17.3 New Scheme Year Levies Received
At the reporting date levies were received in respect of the new scheme year, for which, the Skills   Development 
legislation allows an employer until 30 June 2012 to submit an application for a mandatory grant. At the 
reporting date it is estimated, as a result, that additional mandatory grant expenditure of R0 (2009/10: R0) 
will be payable. The amount is contingent on the number of submissions received and approved.

18. Commitments 

18.1 Discretionary Reserve
Of the balance of R65 450 000 (2009/10: R64 327 000) available in the discretionary reserve at the end 
of March 2011, R60 600 000 has been approved and contracted for future projects and skills priorities as 
set out below. Note that the definition commitments by the accounting authority includes signed contracts 
up to the approval date of the financial statement and approval letters. Amounts for expenses that have 
already been contracted or incurred, and therefore included in grant expenses in the Statement of Financial 
Performance, are also indicated. A request for the accumulation of these funds has been submitted to 
National Treasury. At the time of compiling the financial statements, no reply had been received.
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(in R’000) 2010/11 2009/10
Opening Balance ABSA Letsema 8 – –
Received During the Year – ABSA Letsema 8 Project 5 000 –
ABSA Letsema 8 Project 5 000 –
Interest Received 12 –

Utilised & Recognised as Revenue – Conditions Met: (7 096) –
Letsema 8 Training & Development (5 246) –
Letsema 8 Project Cost (1 850) –

CLOSING BALANCE(3) (2 084) –

TOTAL ABSA FuNDING RECEIVED IN ADVANCE 159 23 603

Notes:
1 During the year the unutilised surplus funds were transferred to the Letsema 7 Project during the closure of the Letsema 6 Project.
2 ABSA has committed to support the Letsema 7 Project. Unutilised funds for the Letsema 6 Project were transferred to Letsema 7 

during the closure of the Letsema 6 Project.
3 ABSA has committed to support the Letsema 8 Project. Funding relating to March 2011 expenditure only received in April 2011.

14.2 Nedbank Letsema Funding
Note 2010/11 2009/10

 (in R’000)  (in R’000)

Opening Balance Nedbank 63 (302)
Received During the Year‑Nedbank Letsema 6 Project – 1 192
Interest Received 2 22

Utilised and Recognised as Revenue – Conditions Met: 1 (849)
Letsema 6 Project Cost 1 (849)

CLOSING BALANCE 67 63

Nedbank has committed to support the Letsema 6 Project. BANKSETA to refund Nedbank on revenue 
not utilised as per agreement.

14.3 InterSETA Summit
Note 2010/11 2009/10

 (in R’000)  (in R’000)

Opening Balance InterSETA Summit 236 –
Received During the Year‑InterSETA Summit – 2 587

Interest Received 10 28
Utilised and Recognised as Revenue – Conditions Met: – (2 379)
InterSETA Summit – (2 379)
Refunds to Relevant SETAs (63) –

CLOSING BALANCE 25 183 236

During the year BANKSETA received an amount of R0 (2010: R2 587 000) from other SETAs, to administer 
an InterSETA conference. The balance of the funds will be utilised at the next InterSETA Summit.

Note 2010/11 2009/10
 (in R’000)  (in R’000)

Total Special Project Income Recognised for the Year Per the Statement Of 
Financial Performance

29 062 12 044

Total Donar Funding Received in Advance 409 23 902

15. Finance Lease Liability
Note 2010/11 2009/10

(in R’000) (in R’000)

Finance Lease Liability 18.3 11 –
Less Short‑Term Portion Disclosed Under Current Liabilities (11) –
Non‑Current Lease Liability – –
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(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

2.8 284 Interbank Training Material Update 700 – (131) 569 (120) (449) – –

2.8 285 HIv/AIDS Training Support 1 000 400 (1 011) 389 (389) – – –

2.5 286 Co‑op Banks IoB/SBSA 2008/9 134 (134) – – – – – –

2.8 287 IEDP Europe 2009 – 3 992 (3 992) – – – – –

2.8 288 Provincial Strategy Implementation – 370 (266) 104 (83) (21) – –

5.2 289 PPP New venture Creation Provider – 500 (465) 36 (36) – – –

2.8 290 FAIS Support & Implementation – 8 100 (5 946) 2 154 2 500 (4 471) 183 –

2.5 291 Co‑operative Bank Staff Development – 850 (760) 90 (90) – – –

4.3 292 NvC Programme – 900 (864) 36 (36) – – –

2.8 293 Discretionary Grant Funding Window 2009 – 19 501 (13 096) 6 405 (1 400) (1 246) 3 759 3 759

2.8 294 Reasonable Accomodation Strategies – 500 (14) 486 875 (35) 1 326 –

295 Internships – – – – 1 635 (48) 1 155 –

4.1 296 Letsema Learnership – 27 876 (7 583) 20 293 2 762 (20 702) 2 353 2 141

4.1 297 18.2 Niche Learnerships – 13 185 (8 850) 4 335 (725) (3 610) – –

2.8 298 18.1 Niche Learnerships – 11 350 (8 580) 2 770 (790) (1 980) – –

4.1 300 Kuyasa 2009/10 – 14 800 (3 782) 11 018 1 802 (11 052) 1 768 1 198

4.1 301 Bridging Programme for Learners with Disability – 5 500 (314) 5 186 – (1 591) 3 595 1 350

4.1 302 Scarce Skills Analysis & Solutions – 8 400 (2 443) 5 957 480 (3 904) 2 533 1 545

2.8 303 National Payment System – 800 (86) 714 – (540) 174 24

2.8 304 IEDP UK 2009 – 3 555 (3 555) – – – – –

2.8 306 Microfinance Benchmarking – 800 (119) 681 (681) – – –

5.1 308 University of Forthare: Centre of Excellence – 2 725 (2 476) 249 160 (389) 20 –

309 Work readiness Intervention – – – – 8 615 (3 957) 4 658 2 395

2.8 310 Management Development Programme(1) – 6 900 (394) 6 506 6 000 (5 099) 7 407 6 351

2.8 311 IEDP Planning 2010 – 1 784 (1 784) – – – – –

2.8 312 Youth Portal – – – 1 000 (24) 976 –

2.8 313 Financial Literacy – – – – 440 (404) 36 –

2.8 314 ASTD Techknowledge Conference 2010 – 500 (494) 6 (69) 63 – –

315 InterSETA Summit 2009 – 200 (200) – – – – –

2.8 316 IEDP Europe – 4 000 (27) 3 973 4 000 (3 878) 4 095 1 017

2.8 317 IEDP USA Planning – – – – 250 (72) 178 –

1.2 318 Career Guidance Seminars 2010 – – – – 1 500 (707) 793 181

2.8 319 Life Long Learning 2010: Large Companies Only – – – – 1 435 (1 418) 17 265

1.1 320 Research‑Skills Planning 2010 – – – – 2 479 (2 105) 374 652

2.7 321 Adult Basic Education & Training (ABET) 2010 – – – – 1 476 (350) 1 126 161

2.2 322 SME voucher Project 2010 – – – – 3 000 (1 041) 1 959 43

2.2 323 Life Long Learning: SME 2010 – – – – 1 000 (737) 263 –

2.2 325 Mobile Training Solutions 2010 – – – – 3 665 (3 626) 39 –

329 Best Practice in Skills Development Award 2010 – – – – 188 (188) – –

2.8 330 Masters & Executive Short Courses 2010 – – – – 5 500 (4 067) 1 433 1513

2.8 331 IEDP UK – 4 000 (27) 3 973 6 586 (3 620) 6 939 4 607

3.2 332 Co‑operative Bank Staff Development – – – – 500 (360) 140 –

4.3 333 New venture Creation 2010 – – – – 900 (821) 79 –

5.2 334 New venture Creation Provider – – – – 500 (496) 4 –

2.8 335 18.1 Niche Learnerships(2) – – – – 6 790 (6 300) 490 –

2.8 336 18.2 Niche Learnerships(2) – – – – 6 725 (4 560) 2 165 1 220

4.1 & 2.8 337 Scare Skills Funding 2010 – – – – 5 000 – 5 000 –

4.1 339 Letsema vIII(2) – – – – 23 000 (5 607) 17 393 16 789

4.1 340 Kuyasa 2010/11(2) – – – – 12 975 (1 916) 11 095 10 549

341 CEO Discretionary Funds 2010/11 – – – – 1 840 – 1 840 –

342 CEO Discretionary Funds 2010/11 – – – – 500 – 500 –

4.2 343 Retrenched Employee Assistance Programme – – – – 400 (65) 335 380

2.2 344 SME Strategic Project 2011 – – – – 400 – 400 –

? 345 RPL: Study Tour Planning 2011 – – – – 400 (15) 385 –

2.8 347 IEDP USA 2011(2) – – – – 5 000 (1 910) 3 090 2 460

TOTAL PROJECT ExPENDITuRE 116 297 134 871 (155 457) 95 711 114 103 (113 395) 96 420 60 600

Notes:
1 BANKSETA
2 Funds Allocated to Project with End Date 31 March 2012.
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(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

2.8 165 Women’s Development Programme 2006 1 986 (1 031) (956) – – – – –

2.7 184 ABET Support 2006 88 (88) – – – – – –

2.4 185 IIP Implementation & Support(1) 432 465 (881) 16 16 (32) – –

5.1 194 Centres Of Excellence 2006/7 135 15 (150) – – – – –

2.8 207 Junior & Middle Management Programme(1) 12 204 (181) (12 024) – – – – –

2.5 208 Building a Better Business (NW & WC)(1) 266 (127) (139) – – – – –

4.1 209 Letsema 5(1) 1 642 (1 708) 66 – – – – –

4.1 210 Kuyasa 2008(1) 632 (632) – – – – – –

2.8 211 IEDP UK 2008(1) 152 (152) – – – – – –

2.8 212 SME Training voucher Project 2007(1) 2 472 (2 472) 46 46 – – 46 –

5.1 214 Centre of Excellence 2008(1) 3 806 455 (2 606) 1 655 (435) (1 220) – –

2.8 215 Masters & Executive Courses 2008(1) 548 (231) (317) – – – – –

5.3 216 ETQA: External Moderation(1) 470 (436) (34) – – – – –

2.8 219 Medium Company voucher Project 2007(1) 594 (594) – – – – – –

4.3 224 New venture Creation Skills Programme(1) 161 (161) – – – – – –

4.2 235 FASSET Partnership: Thusanani Programme 18 – (18) – – – – –

4.3 237 BEE NvC Project 6 (6) – – – – – –

2.8 238 Introductory Course in Islamic Banking 994 (340) (455) 199 (199) – – –

2.1 241 Financial Education: Translations & Reproducing 215 (100) – 115 (115) – – –

2.8 242 IEDP: Canada Prep 2008(1) 164 (162) 37 39 – – 39 –

2.5 245 SME Building a Better Business 37 1 000 (892) 145 (102) (43) – –

2.8 246 QCTO Pilot Project 7 239 2 500 (2 163) 7 576 (2 517) (146) 4 913 2 000

4.1 247 Learner Tracking 201 (3) (198) – – – – –

4.2 248 FASSET Partership: Thusanani 691 (500) (184) 7 (7) – – –

2.2 249 Innovative Solutions for SME – 1 100 (909) 191 391 (582) – –

2.2 251 SME Training voucher Project 2008/9 1 222 2 500 (3 263) 459 – (430) 29 –

1.2 252 Career Awareness 2008/9 (1) 11 1 500 (1 267) 244 (72) (172) – –

1.1 253 Scarce Skills Research (1) 1 077 – (354) 723 (301) (422) – –

2.8 254 Masters & Exec Short Courses(1) 5 557 (300) (4 270) 987 (577) (410) – –

2.8 256 18.1 Niche Learnerships: Scarce Skills 2 830 (2 680) (150) – – – – –

2.8 257 18.2 Niche Learnerships: Scarce Skills 2 785 (2 155) (630) – – – – –

2.7 258 ABET Support 2008/9 319 600 (653) 266 (26) (240) – –

4.2 259 CIDA Bursaries (Unemployed) 27 – (21) 6 (6) – – –

4.3 260 NvC Programme 2008/9 264 (264) – – – – – –

5.2 261 PPP New venture Creation Provider 2009 86 (86) – – – – – –

4.1 262 Kuyasa 2009 8 465 632 (7 605) 1 492 (1 492) – – –

263 CEO Discretionary Pool of Funds 713 (713) – – – – – –

4.1 264 Bridging Programme for Disabled Learners 254 (254) – – – – – –

4.1 265 18.2 Internships (Employed) 300 (300) – – – – – –

2.8 266 International Learning Dev Conference 474 466 (940) – – – – –

4.1 267 Letsema 6 33 890 1 294 (34 422) 762 (762) – – –

4.1 269 Study to accommodate Deaf in the Workplace 71 – – 71 – – 71 –

5.1 270 Skills Resource Centre 2008/9(1) 5 815 (565) (5 055) 195 4 000 (4 000) 195 –

2.2 271 SME Lifelong Learning Workshops 2008/9 624 1 200 (475) 1 349 (1 346) (3) – –

5.1 272 IoB Center of Excellence 1 200 – (1 200) – – – – –

2.8 273 Doctoral & Post Doctoral Funding 1 855 600 (983) 1 472 – (1 249) 223 –

2.8 274 EDP Planning 2009 236 (145) (91) – – – – –

2.8 275 Project Evaluation & Impact Studies 1 326 100 (1 427) – – – – –

2.8 276 Scarce Skills Analysis & Solutions 4 000 (4 000) – – – – – –

2.8 277 Scarce Skills Funding 1 458 – – 1 458 – (696) 762 –

2.8 278 ICT Banking Support Technician Benchmar 1 724 250 (2 205) (231) 231 – – –

2.2 279 SME Skills Dev Toolkit 1 500 – (1 001) 499 (397) – 102 –

5.1 280 Centre of Excellence: Leadership Council 360 (360) – – – – – –

2.8 281 FAIS Preparation 311 – (271) 40 (40) – – –

2.8 282 FAIS 150 (43) (107) – – – – –

2.4 283 Good Practice Awards 2009 400 (370) (30) – – – – –
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21.1 Interest Rate Risk
The SETA manages its interest rate risk by effectively investing SETA surplus cash in term deposits with 
different financial institutions according to the SETA’s investment policy. The SETA’s exposure to interest 
rate risk and the effective interest rates on financial instruments at Statement of Financial Position date are 
as follows:

Year Ended 31 March 2011

Floating Rate
Non-Interest 

Bearing

TotalAmount    
Effective 

Interest Rate Amount    
(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

Assets
Cash 151 776 5.86% – 151 776
Accounts Receivable from 
Non‑Exchange Transactions

– – 1 139 1 139

Other Accounts Receivable – – 878 878
Total Financial Assets 151 776 5.86% 2 017 153 793

Liabilities
Trade & Other Payables – – (14 285) 14 285
Total Financial Liabilities – – (14 285) 14 285

Year Ended 31 March 2010

Floating Rate
Non-Interest 

Bearing

TotalAmount    
Effective 

Interest Rate Amount    
(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

Total Financial Assets 125 792 7.36% 1 215 127 007
Total Financial Liabilities – – (12 250) (12 250)

125 792 7.36% (11 035) 114 758

Financial instruments have not been discounted as they will all be settled or recovered within three months. 
Effect of discounting was considered and found not to be material.

21.2 Credit Risk
Financial assets, which potentially subject the SETA to the risk of non performance by counter parties 
consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. 

The SETA limits its treasury counter‑party exposure by only dealing with well‑established financial institutions 
approved by National Treasury. The SETA’s exposure is continuously monitored by the accounting authority. 

Credit risk with respect to levy paying employers is limited due to the nature of the income received. The 
SETA’s concentration of credit risk is limited to the banking industry in which the SETA operates. No 
events occurred in the banking industry during the financial year that may have an impact on the accounts 
receivable that has not been adequately provided for. The SETA is exposed to a concentration of credit 
risk, as significant amounts is owed by the South African Revenue Service (SARS). This concentration of 
risk is limited as SARS is a government entity with sound reputation. Accounts receivable are presented 
net of allowance for doubtful debt. 
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18.2 Operating Leases

Total of Future Minimum Lease Payments Under Non‑Cancelable Leases

Note 2010/11 2009/10
(in R’000) (in R’000)

Not later than 1 year 1 704 1 394
Later than 1 year & not later than 5 years 8 181 18
TOTAL 9 885 1 412

The operating lease above relates to building premises used for office accommodation. The lease 
agreement was entered into effective 1 August 2003 with a termination date of 31 March 2005. The lease 
was extended for five years until 31 March 2010 and it was extended for another year until 31 March 2011. 
During February 2011 BANKSETA entered into a new lease agreement until 28 February 2016. The rental 
and operational costs escalate annually on 1 March with 8.5%.

18.3 Finance Lease Commitments

Reconciliation of Total Future Minimum Lease Payments and Their Present Value

Notes
Present 

Value Interest Payment
(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

Due not later than 1 year (current liabilities) 11 – 11
TOTAL 15 11 – 11

BANKSETA has entered into finance lease agreements for rental of photocopying and printing equipment 
with the latest agreement due to expire on 30 April 2011 with 0% escalation rates. This has been accounted 
for in terms of GRAP No. 13. No provision was made for an option to renew the leases on expiry.

19. Material Losses Through Criminal Conduct, Irregular, Fruitless & 
Wasteful Expenditure
BANKSETA has instituted a special investigation of discretionary grant payments made during 2009/10 to a 
specific service provider. The investigation was finalised and a summons was lodged to the North Gauteng 
High Court. The summons in this matter was issued on 3 May 2011. On conclusion of this court case it 
will be necessary to make a determination of a potential fruitless and wasteful expenditure. Accordingly, 
an empirical percentage estimate of BANKSETA’s chances of success would be premature and is not 
possible.

20. Events After Reporting Date
None.

21. Financial Instruments
In the course of the SETA operations it is exposed to credit, liquidity and market risk. The SETA has 
developed a comprehensive risk strategy in terms of TR No. 28.1 in order to monitor and control these 
risks. The risk management process relating to each of these risks is discussed under the headings below.
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21.5.2 Accounts Receivable 

The carrying amount of accounts receivable is net of allowance for any doubtful debt, estimated by the 
accounting authority based on prior experience. The carrying amount of these assets approximates their 
fair value.

21.5.3 Accounts Payable

The carrying amount of account and other payables approximates fair value due to the relatively short‑term 
maturity of these financial liabilities.

22. New Accounting Pronouncements
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, there are Standards and Interpretations in issue 
but not yet effective. These include the following Standards and Interpretations that are applicable to the 
SETA and may have an impact on future financial statements:

GRAP Description Effective Dates, Commencing on or After

21 Impairment of Non‑Cash Generating Assets 1 April 2012
23 Revenue from Non‑Exchange Transactions (Taxes & Transfers) 1 April 2012
24 Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements 1 April 2012
25 Employee Benefits Not Yet Effective
  26 Impairment of Cash‑Generating Assets 1 April 2012
104 Financial Instruments Not Yet Effective
105 Transfer of function between entities under common control Not Yet Effective
106 Transfer of function between entities not under common control Not Yet Effective
107 Mergers Not Yet Effective

An entity shall apply Standards of GRAP for annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or 
after a date to be determined by the Minister of Finance in a regulation to be published in accordance with 
section 91(1)(b) of the PFMA.

GRAP 23 has been used to formulate accounting policies or inform presentation and disclosure.

GRAP 24 The principles outlined in GRAP 24 have been used to inform compliance with the requirements 
of GRAP 1.

GRAP Description

21 Impairment of Non-Cash Generating Assets
This standard prescribes the accounting treatment for the impairment of non‑cash generating assets 
and does not significantly differ from IAS 36 except for some terminology differences. It is not expected 
that this standard will significantly impact future disclosures.

23 Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes & Transfers)
The standard prescribes requirements for the financial reporting of revenue arising from non‑exchange 
transactions. Accounting policies have been amended to clearly distinguish between exchange and 
non exchange transactions. It is not expected that the initial application will significantly impact the 
SETA’s financial statements.

24 Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements
The standard prescribes the presentation of a comparison of budget and actual amounts in the financial 
statements of entities that are publicly accountable for the use of their funds. The presentation may be 
in the form of additional financial statement or additional budget columns in their financial statements. 
The standard becoming effective is not expected to significantly impact future disclosures since we 
have applied the principles outlined in GRAP 24 to inform our current disclosure

25 Employee Benefits
This standard prescribes the accounting treatment for employee benefits. The changes prescribed 
from the current applicable standard relate mainly to the accounting requirements of defined benefit 
plans and as such is not expected to significantly impact the current accounting policies or disclosures.

Ageing of Other Receivables

Note
2010/11 2009/10

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

Not Past Due 197 – – –
Past Due 0‑30 Days 438 – 186 –
Past Due 31‑120 Days – – – –
Past Due 120‑365 Days – – – –
More Than 1 Year – – – –

Ageing of Cash & Cash Equivalents

Note
2010/11 2009/10

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

Not Past Due 151 776 – 125 792 –
Past Due 0‑30 Days – – – –
Past Due 31‑120 Days – – – –
Past Due 120‑365 Days – – – –
More Than 1 Year – – – –

21.3 Liquidity Risk
The SETA manages liquidity risk through proper management of working capital, capital expenditure and 
actual vs. forecasted cash flows and its cash management policy. Adequate reserves and liquid resources 
are also maintained.

Carrying 
Amount

Contractual 
Cash Flows

Months Years
Trade & Other Payables 6 or Less 6-12 1-2 More Than 2

(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

Year Ended 31 March 2011 (14 285) (14 285) (14 285) – – –
Year Ended 31 March 2010 (12 250) (12 250) (12 250) – – –

In case of liquidity problems, funding resources might be available in terms of DHET and National Treasury 
approval for borrowing requirements in the open market.

21.4 Market Risk
The SETA is exposed to fluctuations in the employment market for example sudden increases in 
unemployment and changes in the wage rates. No significant events occurred during the year that the 
SETA are aware of.

21.5 Fair Values
The SETA’s financial instruments consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, account and other receivables, 
and account and other payables. No financial instruments were carried at an amount in excess of its fair 
value. The following methods and assumptions are used to determine the fair value of each class of 
financial instrument: 

21.5.1 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Comprise cash held by the SETA and short‑term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months 
or less. The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value.
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The Balances at Year End Included in Receivables & Payables 

Notes

2010/11 Amount 2009/10 Amount

Transaction
Receivable/ 

(Payable) Transaction
Receivable/ 

(Payable)
(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

Receivables 9 206 6 883 404
FASSET 398 6 64 –
ServicesSETA (295) – 726 360
ISETT 103 – 44 44
CETA – – 49 –

Payables 12 (4) (112) (4)
FASSET – (1) (39) (1)
INSETA – (3) (18) (3)
AGRISETA – – (55) –

NETT TOTAL 206 2 771 400

Note:
Relating to SETA transfer, the amount of the transaction, where applicable, includes interest and penalties transferred to or from the 
SETA.

24.2  Remuneration of Key Management
The key management personnel (as defined by IPSAS No. 20, Related Party Disclosures) of BANKSETA are 
members of the: 
•	 The Accounting Authority; and
•	 The senior management group.

The accounting authority consists of members appointed in terms of its constitution. The Chief Executive 
Officer attends meetings of the accounting authority, but is not a member of the accounting authority. The 
aggregate remuneration of members of the Accounting Authority and the number of members receiving 
remuneration within this category are:

2010/11 2009/10
(in R’000) (in R’000)

Aggregate Remuneration 59 59
No. of Persons 13 13

The senior management group consists of the SETA’s chief executive officer. The aggregate remuneration 
of members of the senior management group and the number of managers receiving remuneration within 
this category are:

2010/11 2009/10
(in R’000) (in R’000)

Aggregate Remuneration 1 628 1 876
No. of Persons 1 1

Refer to the report by the Accounting Authority for detail disclosure concerning the emoluments of members 
of the accounting authority and the Chief Executive Officer.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |

GRAP Description
26 Impairment of Cash Generating Assets

This standard prescribes the accounting treatment for the impairment of cash generating assets and 
does not significantly differ from IAS 36. It is not expected that this standard will significantly impact 
future disclosures due to the SETA having no cash generating assets.

104 Financial Instruments
GRAP 104 prescribes recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure requirements for 
financial instruments and makes significant modifications to the principles in the previous standards 
applied in order to:

‑ simplify the recognition, measurement and disclosure of financial instruments; and
‑ accommodate the types of financial instruments entered into in the public sector.

The definitions of the various categories of financial instruments in IAS 39 have been streamlined and 
replaced which will require us to change our accounting policy accordingly.

The following disclosures required under IAS are encouraged but not required:
‑ The disclosure of fair values for financial instruments.
‑ Certain disclosures about the use of the fair value using the three tiered hierarchy.
‑ A market sensitivity analysis.

23. Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of  
Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the SETA’s accounting policies management is required to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other 
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, 
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

23.1 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

Useful Lives & Residual Value of Property, Plant & Equipment & Intangible Assets
The SETA has reviewed the residual values used for the purposes of depreciation calculations in light of 
the amended definition of residual value. The review did not highlight any requirement for an adjustment to 
the residual values used in the current or prior periods. Residual values are reviewed annually. 

The SETA review the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets at the 
end of each annual reporting period, refer to Note No. 7 and 8 for the respective carrying values. 

24. Related Party Transactions 

24.1  Transactions with Entities Under Common Control 
The SETA was controlled by the Department of Labour, for the period up until 31 October 2009 and since 
1 November 2009 by the Department of Higher Education and Training. The departments were controlled 
by the Minister of Labour and Minister of Higher Education and Training respectively.

By virtue of the fact that BANKSETA is a National Public Entity related to other entities and departments in 
the National sphere of government it is considered related to Telkom, Eskom, South African Airways, other 
SETAs and the National Skills Fund. The transactions are consistent with normal operating relationships 
between the entities and are undertaken on terms and conditions that are normal for such transactions. 
Where there were transactions and balances arising due to the movement of funds between entities under 
the common control of the department, these amounts were disclosed below. InterSETA transactions and 
balances arise due to the movement of employers from one SETA to another. 
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27. Notes to Comparison of Budget & Actual
Legislation requires that the SETA annually, in September submits a budget to the Minister for approval. 
Any subsequent changes required to the initial budget are approved by the Management Board on 
recommendation of the Finance Committee.

27.1 Skills Development Levy – Income from Non‑Exchange Transactions
The levy receipt for the current year was 5% more than the budget for the year. The budget information was 
calculated using a conservative approach due to the world wide economic crises.

27.2 Skills Development Levy – Penalties & Interest from Non‑Exchange Transactions:
Income from penalties and interest arise when employers fail to submit their returns as required by legislation. 
These amounts typically vary significantly year on year. The full balance is made available for projects.

27.3 Investment Income
Investment income was 42% less than what was budgeted for, due to low interest rates in 2010/11 as a 
result of larger than anticipated declines in the prime interest rate.

27.4 Employer Grant & Project Expenses
The approved final budget only includes the estimated mandatory grant spending of the current financial 
year. There was an increase in mandatory grant expenditure due to the increase in levies received and 
the increase in Work Place Skills Plans submitted by the employers. The over expenditure also related to 
increased project expenditure, utilising prior year reserves. This over expenditure is acceptable practice 
within the SETA environment given the multi‑year nature of many projects.

27.5 Administration Expenses
Administration expenditure is limited to 10% of levies received. The legislation limit has not been exceeded 
and the savings will be utilised to fund sector skills priorities, through various projects.

25. Transactions with Stakeholders Represented on the Accounting 
Authority 
BANKSETA has, in the normal course of its operations, entered into certain transactions with entities which 
had a nominated representative serving on BANKSETA’s accounting authority.

Nature of 
Relationship 
(Authority Member)

Transaction  
Type

2010/11 Amount 2009/10 Amount

Related Party Transaction
Receivable/ 

(Payable) Transaction
Receivable/ 

(Payable)

(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

Receivables

ABSA Letsema Ronald Ramabulana Letsema Project 5 000 2 119 7 825 –

Nedbank Letsema Shirley Zinn Letsema Project – – (1) –

Payables

African Bank Nitasha Naicker Discretionary Grant 1 200 88 2 112 –

Investec Marlé van der Walt Discretionary Grant 368 – – –

SARB Jenny Jeftha Discretionary Grant 596 81 783 –

ABSA Letsema Ronald Ramabulana Discretionary Grant 29 063 15 7 824 –

First Rand Bank Francois Hugo/ 
Gcobani Fipaza

Discretionary Grant
1 814 308 9 392 –

Microfinance South Africa Hennie Ferreira Discretionary Grant – – 224 –

ABSA Ronald Ramabulana Discretionary Grant 9 610 – 3 752 –

Nedbank Shirley Zinn Discretionary Grant 2 135 – 6 113 –

Standard Bank Sipho Ngidi Discretionary Grant 4 349 – 5 908 –

Note: 

The above transactions occurred under terms that were no less favourable than those available in similar arm’s length dealings.

26. InterSETA Summit
InterSETA and related party transactions and balances arose due to the InterSETA summit held during 
2009/10 and administered by BANKSETA on behalf 20 SETAs. The InterSETA summit was held to discuss 
the new SETA landscape beyond 31 March 2010.

Received 
During 

2009/10
Percentage 

Contribution

Payable 
During 

2010/11

Received 
During 

2010/11

Refund 
During 

2010/11

Closing 
Balance 
2010/11

(in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000) (in R’000)

BANKSETA 200 8.53% 20 – – 20
FoodBev SETA 40 1.71% 4 – – 4
Deloitte 200 8.53% 20 – 20 –
FIETA 100 4.27% 10 – 10 –
MQA 200 8.53% 20 – – 20
W&R SETA 200 8.53% 20 – – 20
ESETA 50 2.13% 5 – – 5
ETDP SETA 100 4.27% 10 – 10 –
MerSETA 200 8.53% 20 – – 20
CHIETA 140 5.97% 14 – – 14
H&W SETA 40 1.71% 4 – 4 –
TETA 124 5.29% 12 – 12 –
CTFL SETA 144 6.14% 14 – – 14
CETA 40 1.71% 4 – – 4
FASSET 40 1.71% 4 – 4 –
AGRISETA 22 0.94% 2 – 2 –
THETA 100 4.27% 10 – – 10
LGSETA 24 1.02% 2 – – 2
SASSETA 100 4.27% 10 – – 10
MAPP SETA 40 1.71% 4 – – 4
Services SETA 240 10.24% 24 – – 24
Public Delegates 243 – – – – –
Interest Received 10 – – – – –
TOTAL 2 587 100.00% 236 – 63 183
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No. Registration No.
NqF 
Level Type Title

DE‑REGISTERED LEARNERSHIPS
1 02 Q 020020 18 147 4 4 Learnership Asset Protection in Banking 
2 02 Q 020005 14 181 4 4 Learnership Retail Banking – Credit 
3 02 Q 020002 48 120 3 3 Learnership Entry Level Banking 
4 02 Q 020009 00 120 5 5 Learnership Financial Services Co‑operatives Banking 
5 02 Q 020003 00 xxx 4 Learnership Accelerated Treasury Training
6 02 Q 020006 00 xxx 4 Learnership Banking Practice

Development Programme Overview

Project 
No.

Project  
Title

Project 
Value

Project  
Objective Related Party

Organisation 
Represented 
on the Board

Individual 
Organisation 

Value

4710.330 Masters Bursary 
Scheme 2010

5 500 000 Provide funding to 
the banks for local 
short courses in 
executive management 
and also masters 
level programmes.

 ‑ Sipho Ngidi
 ‑ Gcobani Fipaza
 ‑ Ronald 
Ramabulana

 ‑ Dean Retief
 ‑ Nitasha Naicker

 ‑ Standard
 ‑ FirstRand
 ‑ ABSA
 ‑ Nedbank
 ‑ African 
Bank

426,922
1,190,000

452,986
625,917
119,700

4710.273 Doctoral & Post 
Doctoral Funding

2 530 000 Fund Doctoral and Post 
Doctoral tuition at HET 
institutions once research 
proposal is accepted.

 ‑ Marlé van der Walt  ‑ Investec 18,819

4710.310 Certificate in 
Management 
Development 
Programme

6 900 000 Fund the development 
of Junior and Middle 
Management candidates.  
At the end of the 
programme 160 
candidates would have 
benefitted from this 
programme as well as 
75 jaMM Alumni who 
will obtain the Milpark 
qualification.

 ‑ Gcobani Fipaza
 ‑ Nitasha Naicker
 ‑ Shirley Zinn
 ‑ Ronald Ramabulana

 ‑ FirstRand
 ‑ African 
Bank

 ‑ Nedbank
 ‑ ABSA

1,725,000
517,500
690,000

1,035,000

4710.294 Reasonable 
Accommodation 
Strategies

5 000 000 Conduct a study 
on the reasonable 
accommodation of 
disabled people in the 
workplace and share best 
practice with the banking 
and microfinance sector.

 ‑ Gcobani Fipaza
 ‑ Ronald Ramabulana
 ‑ Shirley Zinn

 ‑ FirstRand
 ‑ Nedbank
 ‑ ABSA

2,939,000
1,600,000
1,082,000

4710.316 IEDP Europe 4 000 000 Fund the development of 
20 senior managers to 
assist with preparing them 
for the executive roles that 
they will enter over the 
next 2‑3 years.

 ‑ Sipho Ngidi    
 ‑ Gcobani Fipaza
 ‑ Ronald Ramabulana
 ‑ Dean Retief
 ‑ Nitasha Naicker

 ‑ Standard
 ‑ FirstRand
 ‑ ABSA
 ‑ Nedbank
 ‑ African 
Bank

1,250,000
1,250,000
1,000,000

250,000
500,000

4710.331 IEDP UK 4 152 600 Fund the development of 
20 senior managers to 
assist with preparing them 
for the executive roles that 
they will enter over the 
next 2‑3 years.

 ‑ Sipho Ngidi
 ‑ Gcobani Fipaza
 ‑ Ronald Ramabulana
 ‑ Dean Retief
 ‑ Nitasha Naicker

 ‑ Standard
 ‑ FirstRand
 ‑ ABSA
 ‑ Nedbank
 ‑ African 
Bank

1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000

250,000
500,000

4710.335 18.1 Niche 
Learnerships

6 790 000 Fund current employees 
scarce skills within the 
broader banking and 
microfinance sector.

 ‑ Gcobani Fipaza
 ‑ Ronald Ramabulana
 ‑ Dean Retief
 ‑ Nitasha Naicker

 ‑ First Rand 
 ‑ ABSA 
 ‑ Nedbank
 ‑ African 
Bank 

2,420,000
420,000

1,200,000
1,200,000
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Annexures 

Learnerships
(As at June 2010)

No. Registration No.
NqF 
Level Type Title

REGISTERED LEARNERSHIPS
1 02 Q 020021 24 126 3 3 Learnership Asset Based Finance Administration
2 02 Q 020008 29 120 4 4 Learnership Asset Based Finance
3 02 Q 020026 17 156 5 5 Learnership Asset Protection in Banking
4 02 Q 020042 00 360 6 6 Learnership Bachelor in Management Leadership
5 02 Q 020025 18 154 5 5 Learnership Banking Management
6 02 Q 020018 00 120 5 5 Learnership Business Analysis
7 02 Q 020014 00 120 5 5 Learnership Certificate in Management Leadership
8 02 Q 020017 15 135 4 4 Learnership Central Banking Security
9 02 Q 020037 18 158 5 5 Certificate Certificate in Banking: Risk Management
10 02 Q 020038 00 120 5 5 Learnership Change Management
11 02 Q 020027 29 168 5 5 Learnership Corporate Asset Based Finance
12 02 Q 020010 00 240 5 5 Learnership Credit
13 02 Q 020029 20 131 5 5 Learnership Customer Service Representative
14 02 Q 020040 00 240 5 5 Learnership Diploma in Business Analysis
15 02 Q 020031 00 240 5 5 Learnership Diploma in Management & Leadership
16 02 Q 020041 00 240 5 5 Learnership Diploma in Operations & Productivity Management
17 02 Q 020033 00 120 5 5 Learnership Fleet Management
18 02 Q 020019 00 120 5 5 Learnership HR Benefits in Banking Consulting
19 02 Q 020032 00 240 5 5 Learnership Human Resource in Banking
20 02 Q 020004 00 180 5 5 Learnership Information Technology in Business
21 02 Q 020011 00 120 6 6 Learnership Internal Audit Technician
22 02 Q 020022 23 120 4 4 Learnership Introduction to Microfinance Supervision & Management
23 02 Q 020035 39 128 5 5 Learnership Investment Administration
24 02 Q 020023 00 120 5 5 Learnership Legal Recoveries Services
25 02 Q 020016 00 120 6 6 Learnership Management Development
26 02 Q 020012 30 120 3 3 Learnership Micro Lending Front Line Service
27 02 Q 020015 00 120 5 5 Learnership National Certificate in Banking Services Advice
28 02 Q 020043 27 123 4 4 Learnership National Certificate in Service Excellence at Personal  

& Business Banking
29 02 Q 020034 00 120 5 5 Learnership Operations & Productivity Management
30 02 Q 020039 00 120 5 5 Learnership Project Management
31 02 Q 020028 23 139 5 5 Learnership Relationship Manager
32 02 Q 020013 24 155 4 4 Learnership Retail Foreign Exchange Banking
33 02 Q 020024 00 120 5 5 Learnership Risk Management
34 02 Q 020036 18 201 5 5 Learnership Sales & Relationship Management
35 02 Q 020030 00 120 5 5 Learnership Small Business Services
36 02 Q 020007 00 120 5 5 Learnership Treasury Learnership Programme
37 02 Q 020052 23 140 4 4 Learnership National Certificate in Banking Credit Analysis
38 02 Q 020055 24 140 4 4 Learnership National Certificate in Banking Credit & Risk Analysis
39 02 Q 020048 41 120 3 3 Learnership Banking Financial Services: Insurance (FAIS Fit & Proper)
40 02 Q 020051 27 120 5 5 Learnership National Certificate in Banking Treasury & Global Markets
41 02 Q 020044 00 120 5 5 Learnership Certificate in Bank Credit
42 02 Q 020054 25 120 3 3 Learnership National Certificate in Banking Microfinance
43 02 Q 020046 08 121 6 6 Learnership National Certificate  in Financial Markets & Instruments
44 02 Q 020050 00 120 5 5 Learnership Certificate in Management Development 
45 02 Q 020053 32 120 4 4 Learnership Essential Skills for Banking
46 02 Q 020047 00 120 5 5 Learnership Certificate in Financial Planning
47 02 Q 02004 500 240 5 5 Learnership Diploma in Advanced Business Management

| ANNExURES
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Success
Indicator 
No

Reporting Information 
Required

SETA SLA 
Target for 

2010/2011

Achievements 
for the Year 

(Accumulative)

Achievements 
for the Year 
Percentage Explanation for variance

2,5 No. of small BEE firms 
supported by skills 
development 

10 13 130,00 An additional partnership was 
formed with a provider to deliver 
Enterprise Lending Capacity 
Building Workshops which resulted 
in more BEE firms being supported

No. of small BEE 
cooperatives supported by 
skills development 

5 24 480,00 Partnership with Co‑operative 
Bank Development Agency (CBDA) 
to provide appropriate learners 
from co‑operative banks. More 
was therefore achieved than was 
required by the target.

2,7 No. of workers that have 
registered ABET Level 1 

10 17 170,00 More employers participated on the 
project than anticipated resulting 
in more learners entering and 
achieving various ABET learning 
levels

No. of workers that have 
registered ABET Level 2 

15 29 193,33

No. of workers that have 
registered ABET Level 3 

15 41 273,33

No. of workers that have 
registered ABET Level 4 

10 26 260,00

No. of workers that have 
achieved ABET Level 1 

5 7 140,00

No. of workers that have 
achieved ABET Level 2 

8 13 162,50

No. of workers that have 
achieved ABET Level 3 

7 10 142,86

No. of workers that have 
achieved ABET Level 4 

5 6 120,00

2,8 Total no of workers that 
have entered learning 
programmes 

745 1301 174,63

Workers Entered 
Learnerships 

170 321 174,63 The BANKSETA sponsored 
employed learnerships for 
implementation by registered 
participating employers in the 
banking sector.  As in the previous 
financial year, the BANKSETA 
implemented a revised grant 
allocated pricing schedule to 
incentivise the sector to implement 
more learnerships given the impact 
of the recession.

Workers Received Bursaries  200 342 171,00 This was due to the increased 
demand and uptake within the 
sector for the Masters and Executive 
Courses.

Workers Entered Unit 
Standard Based Skills 
Programmes 

375 642 171,20 This overachievement was due 
to the FAIS requirements for 
compliance by major banks

ANNExURES |

Project 
No.

Project  
Title

Project 
Value

Project  
Objective Related Party

Organisation 
Represented 
on the Board

Individual 
Organisation 

Value

4710.336 18.2 Niche 
learnerships

6 725 000 Fund current unemployed 
learners scarce skills 
within the broader 
banking and microfinance 
sector.

 ‑ Sipho Ngidi
 ‑ Gcobani Fipaza
 ‑ Ronald Ramabulana
 ‑ Dean Retief

 ‑ Standard
 ‑ First Rand
 ‑ ABSA
 ‑ Nedbank 

2,920,000
610,000

1,220,000
620,000

4710.336 Letsema vIII 23 000 000 Fund the participation 
of matriculant learners 
in an FSB approved 
qualification to a 
learnership (It any follow 
the existing LETSEMA 
delivery method).

 ‑ Sipho Ngidi
 ‑ Gcobani Fipaza
 ‑ Ronald Ramabulana 
 ‑ Dean Retief
 ‑ Nitasha Naicker

 ‑ Standard
 ‑ First Rand
 ‑ ABSA
 ‑ Nedbank
 ‑ African 
Bank

6,000,000
6,000,000
6,000,000
6,000,000
3,000,000

4710.336 Kuyasa 2010/11 12 975 000 Fund the participation of 
post‑graduate learners 
in an FSB approved 
qualification linked to a 
learnership (It may follow 
the existing Kuyasa 
delivery model.

 ‑ Sipho Ngidi
 ‑ Gcobani Fipaza
 ‑ Ronald Ramabulana
 ‑ Dean Retief
 ‑ Nitasha Naicker

 ‑ Standard
 ‑ First Rand
 ‑ ABSA
 ‑ Nedbank
 ‑ African 
Bank

1,800,000
1,800,000
1,800,000
1,800,000

240,000

4710.322 SME voucher 
Project 2010

4 000 000 The overall objective is 
to attract and retain SME 
participation and this 
approach integrates with 
mandatory skills planning 
and reporting processes 
thereby further increasing 
the level of skills and 
knowledge within the 
SME environment of the 
banking sector. 

 ‑ Hennie Ferreira  ‑ MFSA 150,000

BANKSETA NSDS 2010/2011 achievements
Success
Indicator 
No

Reporting Information 
Required

SETA SLA 
Target for 

2010/2011

Achievements 
for the Year 

(Accumulative)

Achievements 
for the Year 
Percentage Explanation for variance

1,2 No. of SDF or Sector 
Specialists who carry out 
skills development facilitation 
in the sector trained in the 
use of the guide for the year

200 648 324,00 The number of LO teachers trained 
increased as more sessions than 
anticipated were requested by the 
provincial DoE

2,1 No. of large firms received 
WSP/ATR grants for 
2010/11 financial year 

38 47 123,68 We had a few additional new 
organisations submit reports as 
large employers

No. of medium firms 
received WSP/ATR grants for 
2010/11 financial year 

20 29 145,00 We had a few additional new 
organisations submit reports as 
medium employers

2,2 No. of small levy paying firms 
supported by SETAs for 
2010/11 financial year

183 238 130,05 A telephone campaign was 
conducted which resulted 
in the dissemination of information to 
more organisations than anticipated
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Success
Indicator 
No

Reporting Information 
Required

SETA SLA 
Target for 

2010/2011

Achievements 
for the Year 

(Accumulative)

Achievements 
for the Year 
Percentage Explanation for variance

4,2 No. of learners assisted to 
gain work experience 

50 70 140,00 BANKSETA has implemented a 
work‑based experience grant in 
order to increase participation rates.

Number of students/
graduates who find 
placement in employment or 
self‑employment 

35 80 228,57

4,3 No. of young persons trained 
and mentored to form new 
ventures 

20 25 125,00 Leeway built in to allow for drop‑
outs within the programme.

No. of new ventures that are 
in operation 12 months after 
completion of programme 

14 14 100,00

5,1 No. of Institutes of Sectoral 
or Occupational Excellence 
recognised and supported 
by SETA

1 2 200,00 Continued support was provided 
to two Centres of Excellence 
(University of Fort Hare and NW 
University)

5,2 No. of Institutions accredited 
to manage delivery of new 
venture creation qualification

1 2 200,00 Economies of scale was achieved 
with two FET colleges supported.

Success
Indicator 
No

Reporting Information 
Required

SETA SLA 
Target for 

2010/2011

Achievements 
for the Year 

(Accumulative)

Achievements 
for the Year 
Percentage Explanation for variance

Total no of workers that 
have completed learning 
programmes 

373 690 184,99

Workers Successfully 
Completed Learnerships 

85 235 276,47 The increased rate of learners 
completing is based on learnership 
grant funding from the previous 
financial year.

Workers Successfully 
Completed Studies in 
Bursaries 

100 188 188,00 This was primarily due to 
the achievements within the 
Management Development 
Programmes (CMD)

Workers Successfully 
Completed Unit Standard 
Based Skills Programmes 

188 280 148,94 This overachievement was due 
to the FAIS requirements for 
compliance by major banks.

3,2 Total number of 
NLPEs,NGOs,CBOs and 
CBCs supported by skills 
development 

125 162 129,60

Target number of NLPEs in 
the sector to receive skills 
development support 

125 162 129,60 Through the BANKSETA Mobile 
Traning Solution (Bus Project) More 
NLPEs were reached

4,1 Total no of unemployed 
people that have entered 
learning programmes 

670 1135 169,40

Unemployed People Entered 
Learnerships 

625 1107 177,12 The BANKSETA sponsored 1000 
learners on a post‑matric learnership 
(LETSEMA) and learners on a post‑
graduate learnership (KUYASA).  
In addition, BANKSETA made 
grant‑funding windows available to 
employers to support unemployed 
learners on learnerships.

Unemployed People Entered 
Internships 

20 0 0,00 This due to the low demand within 
the sector in respect of internships

Unemployed People Entered 
Unit Standard Based Skills 
Programmes 

25 28 112,00

Total no of unemployed 
people that have completed 
learning programmes 

336 992 295,24

Unemployed People 
Successfully Completed 
Learnerships 

313 961 307,03 This increased rate of learners 
completing is based on learnership 
grant funding from the previous 
financial year.  

Unemployed People 
Successfully Completed 
Internships 

10 0 0,00 This due to the low demand within 
the sector in respect of internships

Unemployed People 
Successfully Completed 
Unit Standard Based Skills 
Programmes 

13 30 230,77
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Acronyms

ABET  Adult Basic Education & Training
AFS Available‑for‑Sale 
ASTD  American Society on Training & Development
ATR  Annual Training Report  
ATRs Annual Training Reports 
BANKSETA  Banking Sector Education & Training Authority
BBBEE  Broad Based Black Economic Empowerment
BEE   Black Economic Empowerment
DHET  Department of Higher Education & Training
DoL  Department of Labour  
ETQA  Education & Training Quality Assurance 
FAIS  Financial Advisory & Intermediary Services Act
FET Further Education and Training 
FETs Further Education and Training colleges 
FvTPL At‑Fair‑value‑Through‑Profit‑or‑Loss
GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
GRAP Generally Recognised Account Practice 
ICT  Information & Communications Technology 
IEDP  International Executive Development Programme 
IEDPs International Executive Development Programmes 
JASA Junior Achievement South Africa 
MFSA  Micro Finance South Africa 
NSBC National Small Business Chamber
NSDS  National Skills Development Strategy 
NSDS III National Skills Development Strategy (Third Release)
PASA  Payments Association of South Africa 
PFMA  Public Finance Management Act 
QCTO  Quality Council for Trades & Occupations
RPL  Recognition of Prior Learning 
RPLAA Recognition of Prior Learning Advisor and Assessor
SADDT South African Disability Development Trust
SAICA  South African Institute of Chartered Accountants
SAQA  South African Qualifications Authority 
SCM Supply Chain Management
SDA  Skills Development Act  
SDLA Skills Development Levies Act 
SETAs South Africa’s Sector Education and Training Authorities 
SLA  Service Level Agreement  
SLAs Service Level Agreements 
SME  Small & Micro Enterprise 
SMS SETA Management System 
SSP Sector Skills Plan 
WSP  Workplace Skills Plan
WSPs Workplace Skills Plans 


